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ISSUES PRESENTED

L. WHETHER THE CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE SALES TAX, SECTION
212.0505, FLORIDA STATUTES, VIOLATES THE FIFTH AND
FOURTEENTH RIGHTS OF TAXPAYERS BECAUSE IT REQUIRES THEM

TO INCRIMINATE THEMSELVES IN ORDER TO PAY THE TAX?

II. WHETHER IMPOSITION OF THE CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE
SALES TAX, SECTION 212.0505, FLORIDA STATUTES, UNDER THE
CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE, VIOLATED THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY

CLAUSE OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT?

III. WHETHER THE FOURTH AMENDMENT APPLIES TO PROCEED-
INGS CONDUCTED PURSUANT TO THE CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE

SALES TAX, SECTION 212.0505, FLORIDA STATUTES?

IV. WHETHER THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE MET ITS BURDEN
OF PROVING THAT MR. HERRE ENGAGED IN THE UNLAWFUL SALE,
USE, CONSUMPTION, DISTRIBUTION, MANUFACTURE, DERIVATION,

PRODUCTION, TRANSPORTATION OR STORAGE OF CANNABIS?




STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Herre’s Criminal Charge, Plea and Subsequent "Tax" Assessment

On October 14, 1988, the appellee, MARK ALFORD HERRE, was stopped along a
highway by a Monroe County Sheriff’s Deputy while driving an Avis Rent-A-Car vehicle.
After other officers arrived, the vehicle was searched without Herre’s consent, a warrant or
probable cause to believe that any crime had occurred. During the search, the officers
found approximately 300 pounds of marijuana in the vehicle. (ROA-1-72-73; ROA-II-86.)!

As a result of the seizure, Herre was charged by the State of Florida with trafficking
in marijuana in violation of Section 893.135, Florida Statutes. On December 28, 1988, after
pleading nolo contendere to the lesser included offense of attempted trafficking in
marijuana, Herre was sentenced to a five (5) year period of probation and, as a special
condition thereof, he was also ordered to pay a fine of $5,000. (ROA-I-73.)

On November 17, 1988, the State of Florida, Department of Revenue, notified Herre,
by service of a jeopardy assessment, that he had "engaged in the unlawful sale, use,
consumption, distribution, manufacture, derivation, production, transportation or storage"
of marijuana and, therefore, was being assessed: (1) a "tax" of $105,000.00, pursuant to

Section 212.0505(1)(a), Florida Statutes’; (2) an additional "surcharge" of $52,500.00,

1 "ROA" designates the Record-On-Appeal as formulated by the Third District Court
of Appeal below.

2 Subsection 212.0505(1)(a) provides:

(1)(a) Every person is exercising a taxable privilege who engages in this

state in the wunlawful sale, use, consumption, distribution, manufacture,

derivation, production, transportation, or storage of any medicinal drugs as

defined in chapter 465, cannabis as defined in s. 893.02, or controlled

substance enumerated in s. 893.03. For the exercise of such privilege, a tax
(continued...)




pursuant to Subsection 212.0505(1)(by’; and (3) a "penalty” of $78,750.00, pursuant to
Subsection 212.0505(3) (ROA-I-1; emphasis added.) In the same form, the Department
notified Herre that the tax assessment was in jeopardy "because of suchunlawful activity and
lack of payment." (ROA-I-1; emphasis added.)

On December 15, 1989, Herre requested an administrative hearing, pursuant to
Sections 72.011 and 120.575, Florida Statutes, to determine the validity of the Department’s
assessment and to challenge the constitutionality of Section 212.0505 itself. (ROA-I-15.)
He argued inter alia: (1) that Section 212.0505 was, on its face, unconstitutional under the
Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution; (2) that Section
212.0505 constituted a penalty, despite its civil form, which violated the Double Jeopardy
Clause of the Fifth Amendment when imposed upon him following his criminal conviction;

(3) that the search and seizure of the marijuana violated the Fourth and Fourteenth

2(...continued)
is levied on each taxable transaction or incident, including each occasional or
isolated unlawful sale, use, consumption, distribution, manufacture, derivation,
production, transportation, or storage, at the rate of 50 percent of the
estimated retail price of the medicinal drug, cannabis, or controlled substance
involved in the transaction or incident.

(Emphasis added.)
3 Subsection 212.0505(1)(b) provides:

(b) In addition to any other tax there shall also be a 25 percent surcharge on
the estimated price of the transaction or incident taxable under paragraph (a).

* Subsection 212.0505(3) provides:

(3) The taxes imposed under this section are subject to the same interest
and penalties and the same procedures for collection and enforcement as
other taxes imposed under this part, except that a dealer’s credit under s.
212.12(1) is not allowed. The department may adopt rules for administering
the taxes imposed by this section.




Amendments to the United States Constitution and his rights under Article I, Section 12,
of the Florida Constitution and that the exclusionary rule should apply to the tax proceed-
ings; and (4) that there was insufficient evidence linking him to the marijuana in the vehicle
to satisfy the Department’s burden that he had "engaged" in "unlawful" activities involving
the cannabis. (ROA-I-15; see also ROA-1-2-8.)

Following a period of discovery, on December 5, 1990, the parties entered into a
stipulation which obviated the need for an evidentiary hearing. (ROA-II-85-87.) The
parties agreed that the facts underlying Herre’s arrest and the seizure of the marijuana were
as set forth in the depositions of Monroe County Sheriff's Deputy William Emral and
Captain Robert Wilkinson. (ROA-II-85; see ROA-I-46-119.) In addition, the parties
agreed that the actual cost to the State of Florida of Herre’s prosecution was only $117.
(ROA-II-86.) Based upon these stipulated facts, on December 14, 1990, Mr. Herre
requested that the Department declare Section 212.0505 inapplicable and/or unconstitu-
tional. (ROA-II-88.)

On July 12, 1991, the Department issued a Final Order, rejecting all of Herre’s
contentions and sustained the assessment in full. (ROA-II-140.) The Department made no
findings concerning the legality of search but held that regardless of any illegality the
exclusionary rule did not apply to proceedings under Section 212.0505. (ROA-II-121, 145.)

As to Herre’s other constitutional claims, the Department ruled the it was not empowered

5 The Department based this ruling on Subsection 212.0505(5) which provides:

(5) Any assessment made pursuant to this section shall be deemed prima
facie correct in any judicial or administrative proceeding in this state. The
suppression of evidence on any ground by a court in a criminal case involving
a transaction or incident taxable under this section or the dismissal of criminal
charges in such a case shall not affect any assessment made under this section.
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to determine the constitutionality of statutes and declined to express any opinion on the
arguments. (ROA-II-129-130, 145-46.)

The Appeal To the Third District Court of Appeal

Herre appealed the Department’s Final Order to the Third District Court of Appeal,
raising all four issues presented in the administrative proceedings. See p. 3supra. On April
20, 1993, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the Department’s Final Order, holding
that Section 212.0505, Florida Statutes violated Herre’s Fifth Amendment right against self-
incrimination. The court declined to follow a decision from the First District Court of
Appeal, Harris v. State Department of Revenue, 563 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. den., 574
So. 2d 141 (Fla. 1990), but certified its decision as in conflict with Harris. The Third District
did not address Herre’s other three claims.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii) of the Florida Rules
of Appellate Procedure. Moreover, although the Third District only chose to address the
Fifth Amendment issue, this Court has the discretion to consider all issues properly raised
below. See Savoie v. State, 422 So. 2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Monroe County Deputy Sheriff William Emral was on routine patrol on the morning
of October 14, 1988 when he was notified by the Plantation Key radio dispatcher that the
Sheriff’s Office had received an anonymous phone call from a tipster who indicated that
"there were two subjects loading what appeared to be narcotics into a white, four door
Cadillac" with license number 367 ZGX. (ROA-I-70-71.) The tipster further indicated that
the vehicle would be headed north on the highway from Lower Matecumbe, Florida.

(ROA-I-71.) The tipster did not state what sort of "narcotics" were being loaded, when or




where he or she made the observations or how he or she knew that the objects "appeared
to be narcotics." (ROA-I-71-72.)

Deputy Emral drove his vehicle to a position where he could observe the northbound
traffic along the highway in question and waited. Approximately ten minutes after receiving
the tip, he saw a vehicle matching the description of the Cadillac, although there was only
a single man in it. (ROA-I-75.) Deputy Emral expressly testified that the Cadillac was at
all times being driven properly but, nonetheless, he decided to stop it based upon the tip.
(ROA-II-76-78.) After radioing for backup assistance, he followed the Cadillac awhile until
traffic cleared and then activated his flashing lights to pull over the vehicle. (ROA-I-77.)

Deputy Emral noticed that the Cadillac was a rental vehicle and asked Herre for
both his driver’s license and the rental contract. (ROA-I-79.) He immediately ran a check
on the driver’s license. As Herre was retrieving the rental agreement from the vehicle,
Deputy Emral noticed two soft-sided, cloth bags inside the car. (ROA-I-81.) The bags
appeared to be full but he could not tell what was inside them from their appearance. Nor
did he smell anything unusual. (ROA-I-84.)

When Herre produced the rental agreement, Deputy Emral noticed that it was in the
name of a Mr. Robert E. Lee with a Maryland address. (ROA-I-85.) He did not check to
see if the rental agreement was overdue or when the vehicle was rented. (ROA-I-86.) He
did question Herre about the whereabouts of Mr. Lee. Herre stated "he believed [Mr. Lee]
was having breakfast" but did not know where. (ROA-I-86.) By this time, the backup

assistance had arrived -- Deputy Chuck Visco and Captain Wilkinson. (ROA-I-86.)

6 After receiving the brief tip, Deputy Emral called back the dispatcher to see if the
tipster had given any other information. "[T]hey said no, that was it. That was the extent
of the call." (ROA-I-71; see also id. at 72.)




Deputy Emral decided to tell Herre about the anonymous tip to see how he would
react. When Herre did not respond, Deputy Emral asked him whether he had been loading
anything” Herre answered that he had been "in the process of loading dive gear." (ROA-I-
87.) Deputy Emral told him that the bags he saw in the passenger compartment did not
resemble "dive bags." However, he acknowledged that Herre might have said that the dive
gear was loaded into the trunk. (ROA-I-93.f Other than not responding initially to the
Deputy’s statements about the anonymous tip, Herre neither did nor said anything unusual
or suspicious. (ROA-I-93.)

Having been unsuccessful in obtaining any incriminating statements from Herre,
Deputy Emral simply asked him point blank whether he could "satisfy my curiosity" by
searching the vehicle. (ROA-I-93.) Herre replied "no, it is not my car. I rather you not."
(ROA-I-94.)

Stymied, Deputy Emral "wasn’t sure on what grounds I stood" legally, so he asked
Captain Wilkinson for advice. (ROA-I-53, 62, 95.) Captain Wilkinson decided to question
Herre himself. He first asked whether Herre had permission to drive the vehicle. Herre
responded that he did. (ROA-I-54.) When Captain Wilkinson then asked about the where-
abouts of Mr. Lee, Herre stated that Mr. Lee was either having breakfast or was diving but

that he did not know where he was. (ROA-I-54, 96.) He also did not know how to reach

" Deputy Emral admitted that he had not Mirandized Herre before interrogating him,
despite the fact that Herre was not free to depart. (ROA-I-88.)

® Deputy Emral also conceded that the bags he saw were of sufficient shape to hold
dive gear and, in any event, he never directly asked whether the dive gear Herre loaded was
contained in them or was only in the trunk. (ROA-I-89-90.) Captain Wilkinson, who
arrived on the scene later, also admitted that he could tell what was in the bags by looking
at them, (ROA-I-59.)




Mrs. Lee. (ROA-1-95-96.) By this time, Deputy Emral had already conducted a check on
the license tag of the vehicle and found that it had not been reported stolen. The officers
did not bother to call Avis Rent-A-Car company. (ROA-I-98.) Nonetheless, the officers
claimed they had authority to "impound" the vehicle to determine whether it was stolen and
informed Herre that it was "department policy" to conduct an inventory search of impounded
vehicles. (ROA-I-57, 97-99.) Deputy Emral expressly stated that he did not have probable
cause to believe the vehicle was stolen. (ROA-I-102.)° Nonetheless, the officers believed
they had authority to impound the vehicle.

After taking the keys from the ignition, the officers immediately commenced their
"inventory search." They immediately searched the trunk of the vehicle, not the allegedly
suspicious bags in the passenger compartment. (ROA-I-60, 62, 105-06.)"" Inside the trunk,

the officers found bales of marijuana wrapped in plastic. (ROA-I-110-11.)

? Both Deputy Emral and Captain Wilkinson acknowledged that, at this point, Herre,
although definitely not free to leave, had still not been Mirandized. (ROA-I-55, 96.)

19" Captain Wilkinson claimed that there was "probable cause" at this point to believe
the vehicle was stolen. (ROA-I-58.) However, the Final Order expressly adopted the
portion of the Department’s Proposed Recommended Order indicating that "Mr. Herre was
not suspected of a crime." (ROA-II-93-94, 143; emphasis added.) Accordingly, the Court
must conclude that, for purposes of this case, the officers lacked probable cause to believe
that the vehicle was stolen.

' Captain Wilkinson testified there was no department policy concerning how to

conduct inventory searches:

No, sir. We don’t have any policy of what you should do first or what you
should do last. Some officer[s] may pick up an inventory sheet first. Other
officers would probably look through the vehicle but there is no standard
procedure.

(ROA-I-60.)




Nothing in the trunk or elsewhere in the vehicle linked Herre to the marijuana other
than the facts recited above. (ROA-I-114, 118.) Nor did Herre make any statements linking
him to the drugs. (ROA-I-64.) Herre was then arrested and taken to jail. (ROA-I-63, 112.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
L Section 212.0505 is unconstitutional on its face under the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendments for two reasons.

First, as the Third District correctly held, Section 212.0505 violates all taxpayers’ Fifth
Amendment rights against self-incrimination, because it compels a "selective group
inherently suspect of criminal activities," Albertson v. SACB, 382 U.S. 70, 79, 86 S.Ct. 194,
199, 15 L.Ed.2d 165 (1965), --i.e., those and only those engaged in the "unlawful" trafficking
in cannabis and controlled substances -- to incriminate themselves by coming forward and
paying a tax and registering with the Department of Revenue. Leary v. United States, 395
U.S. 6, 89 S.Ct. 1532, 23 L.Ed.2d 57 (1969); Marchetti v. United States, 390 U.S. 39, 88 S.Ct.
697, 19 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968); Grosso v. United States, 390 U.S. 62, 88 S.Ct. 709, 19 L.Ed.2d
906 (1968). Moreover, since the "confidentiality" provisions set forth in Section 213.053 do
not provide for use and derivative use immunity, or its equivalent, the Third District also
correctly found that they are not co-extensive with the protections afforded by the Fifth
Amendment privilege. Hence, they do not cure the Fifth Amendment violation in Section
212.0505. See State v. Smith, 813 P.2d 888 (Idaho 1991); People v. Duleff, 515 P.2d 1239
(Colo. 1973); State v. Roberts, 384 N.W.2d 688 (S.D. 1986). Cf. State v. Durrant, 769 P.2d
1174 (Kan.), cert. denied sub nom. Dressel v. Kansas, 492 U.S. 923, 109 S.Ct. 3254, 106

L.Ed.2d 600 (1989); Briney v. State Dept. of Revenue, 594 So. 2d 120 (Ala. Civ. App. 1991),

cert. denied, 1992 Ala. LEXIS 171 (Jan. 31, 1992); Sisson v. Triplett, 428 N.-W.2d 565 (Minn.




1988). The First District Court of Appeal’s decision in Harris v. State Dept. of Revenue, 563
So.2d 97 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), which holds to the contrary, was wrongly decided and should
not be followed by this Court.

Second, Section 212.0505 creates a tax to be administered by the Department of
Revenue. Section 212.18(2) directs that the Department "shall" promulgate "by rule and
regulation” the specific "method" for payment and "shall prepare instructions” for all tax-
payers. The Department, however, has never promulgated any regulations for administering
Section 212.0505. This defect violates both the Florida Administrative Procedure Act,
Section 120.52, Florida Statutes, and Herre’s right to due process under the Fifth and
Fourteenth Amendments. Accordingly, Section 212.0505 is unenforceable unless and until
the Department complies with the statutory directive and establishes the requisite rules,
procedures, methods and instructions.

II.  Section 212.0505 also violates Herre’s Fifth Amendment right against being twice

placed in jeopardy for the same offense -- "unlawful" trafficking in cannabis. This is so,
despite the "civil" label of the cannabis tax, because at least one of the purposes behind the
tax is punitive. See United States v. Halper, 490 U.S. 435, 109 S. Ct. 1892, 104 L.Ed.2d 487
(1989).

III. The Department of Revenue erred as a matter of law in concluding that the exclu-

sionary rule of the Fourth Amendment did not apply to the revenue collection proceedings.
Although the United States Supreme Court in United States v. Janis, 428 U.S. 433, 96 S.Ct.
3021, 49 L.Ed.2d 1046 (1976), ruled that the exclusionary rule did not apply in a civil tax
case where an agency of the federal government introduced evidence illegally seized by

another sovereign, state law enforcement authorities, it expressly left open whether or not
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the rule would or should apply inintrasovereign situations. In the instant case, the deterrent
goals of the exclusionary rule would be fully served by applying the exclusionary rule to the
intrasovereign activities of the State of Florida. If the exclusionary rule applies to these
proceedings, the tax assessment is unconstitutional, because the primary evidence used to
assess the tax -- the cannabis found in the trunk of the rented Cadillac -- was illegally seized.

IV. Even if the illegally seized evidence is considered, the stipulated evidence fails to

establish that Herre was "engaged” in the unlawful trafficking in cannabis, as required by
Section 212.0505. Although he was driving the Cadillac, the evidence established that the
vehicle was rented by a third party. And, there was no evidence that Herre knew what was
inside the bags or the trunk.

ARGUMENT

I THE CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE SALES TAX IS
UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE UNDER THE
FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

A. The Statutory Scheme

The Department contends that the Third District erroneously construed the
Controlled Substance Sales Tax, 212.0505, Florida Statutes. According to the Department,
the tax is nothing more than a "generic sales tax" that can be paid by a taxpayer without
having “to differentiate between legal versus illegal transactions." Department’s Brief, at pp.
1-2. Thus, according to the Department, the tax can be paid and forms filled out "in a non-
self-incriminating manner." Id. at p. 6 (emphasis in original). The Department’s arguments

are belied by the express language of Section 212.0505.
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The Controlled Substance Sales Tax, 212.0505, Florida Statutes, requires any "person”
who "unlawfulfly]" sells, uses, distributes, manufactures, produces, transports or stores
cannabis or other controlled substances, to pay a "tax" amounting to 50 percent of the retail
value of the substance, an additional 25 percent "surcharge," plus interest and penalties. See
pp. 2-3 nn. 1-3 supra. Thus, contrary to the Department, Section 212.0505 on its face is
applicable solely to criminal activity. However, under Subsection 212.0505(4), payment of
the tax expressly does not legalize the otherwise "unlawful" activity being taxed.

Under Section 212.18(2), the Department of Revenue is authorized to "administer
and enforce the assessment and collection of the taxes, interest, and penalties imposed by
this chapter,” including Subsection 212.05057 As a required part of these duties,
Subsection 212.18(2) also states that the Department "shall provide by rule and regulation”
a specific "method" for accomplishing these goals and "shall prepare instructions" for "all

persons required by this chapter" to pay taxes. See n. 13. However, no such rules,

12" Subsection 212.0505(4) provides:

(4) Neither this section or the assessment or collection of taxes under this
section shall be construed as making lawful the transaction or incident which
is the subject of the tax.

13 Subsection 212.18(2) provides:

(2) The department shall administer and enforce the assessment and collec-
tion of the taxes, interest, and penalties imposed by this chapter. It is
authorized to make and publish such rules and regulations not inconsistent
with this chapter, as it may deem necessary in enforcing its provision in order
that there shall not be collected on the average more than the rate levied
herein. The department shall provide by rule and regulation a method for
accomplishing this end. It shall prepare instructions to all persons required by
this chapter to collect and remit the tax to guide such persons in the proper
collection and remission of such tax and to instruct such persons in the prac-
tices that may be necessary for the purposes of enforcement of this chapter
and the collection of the tax imposed hereby.
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regulations or instructions have ever been promulgated by the Department. See Florida
Administrative Code, Chapter 12A-1, "Sales and Use Tax On Services" (R. 8/91).
Subsection 212.06(2) defines the term "dealer” as used throughout Chapter 212, The
term is defined as any "person" who, inter alia, sells, manufactures, imports, maintains, uses
or solicits business involving "tangible personal property,” presumably including the "unlawful
.. cannabis" at issue in Subsection 212.0505. Under Subsection 212.18(3)(a), all such
"dealers" must "file with the department an application for a certificate of registration for
each place of business, showing the names of the persons who have interests in such
business and their residences, the address of the business, and such other data as the
department may reasonably require." Subsection 212.18(3)(a) further provides that a
"dealer’s" failure to file for a certificate of registration constitutes a first degree
misdemeanor. And, under Subsection 212.17(4), the Department of Revenue is required
to promulgate the necessary forms for "dealers" to comply with Subsection 212.18(3).1
The use taxes imposed by Chapter 212, Florida Statutes, are also subject to the
dictates of Section 213.053, Florida Statutes. Harris v. State Dept. of Revenue, 563 So. 2d 97,
98 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). Entitled "Confidentiality and Information Sharing," Section
213.053(2) provides that any information obtained by the Department of Revenue about a
citizen who (voluntarily or otherwise) complies with Section 212.0505 is exempt from
disclosure under the Public Records statutes and is "confidential except for official
purposes.” The term "official purposes” is defined by administrative regulation to mean

"within the Department [of Revenue], and does not include other agenciesunless specifically

" Copies of these forms are published in Florida Jur. 2d, v. 54, §§ 39:35 - 39:38 (1983
& 1991 Supp.), and are reproduced in the accompanying APPENDIX.
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included in s. 213.053." Florida Administrative Code, Chapter 12-22.003(2) (emphasis
added). However, the number and nature of the “specifically included ... agencies"
effectively limits the "confidentiality" provision to private parties. State and federal law
enforcement agencies have virtually unlimited access to the information.

Thus, under Subsection 213.053(8), the Department of Revenue "shall" provide any
and all requested information about taxpayers either upon the order of a court or merely
upon the issuance of a subpoena by a State Attorney, a United States Attorney, a state or
federal grand jury or a court in a criminal or even certain civil proceedings or investiga-
tions!> See also Florida Administrative Code, Chapter 12-22.004(4). The Department is
also authorized to share information, without even a subpoena or court order, to the United

States Department of the Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service. See Section

213.053(5), Florida Statutes; Florida Administrative Code, Chapter 12-22.004(1).'¢

5 Subsection 213.053(8) provides:

(8) The Department of Revenue shall provide returns, reports, accounts, or
declarations received by the department, including investigative reports and
information, or information contained in such documents, pursuant to an
order of a judge of a court of competent jurisdiction or pursuant to a
subpoena duces tecum only when the subpoena is:

(a) Issued by a state attorney, a United States attorney, or a court in
a criminal investigation or a criminal judicial proceeding;

(b) Issued by a state or federal grand jury; or

(c) Issued by a state attorney, the Department of Legal Affairs, a
United States attorney, or a court in the course of a civil investigation or a
civil judicial proceeding under the state or federal racketeer influenced and
corrupt organizations act or under chapter 896.

16 Subsection 212.053(5) provides:

(continued...)
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B. Section 212.0505 Violates the Fifth Amendment
Privilege Against Self-Incrimination

Subsection 212,0505 creates a tax on the "unlawful" possession, importation or distri-
bution of marijuana in the State of Florida. The unlawful possession, importation and distri-
bution of marijuana constitutes both a federal and state crime. Chapter 212, Florida
Statutes, in addition to requiring the payment of a tax, requires "dealers" in taxable activities,
including the unlawful possession, importation or distribution of marijuana, to "register" with
the Department of Revenue under circumstances likely to reach law enforcement authorities
-- again at both the state and federal levels. Accordingly, the Third District correctly
concluded that Section 212.0505 constitutes a blatant violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution.

In Marchetti v. United States, 390 U.S. 39, 58, 88 S.Ct. 697, 19 ..Ed.2d 889 (1968), and
its companion case, Grosso v. United States, 390 U.S. 62, 88 S.Ct. 709, 19 L.Ed.2d 906 (1968),
the United States Supreme Court struck down a similar tax/registration scheme involving
illegal gambling. In Marchetti, the defendants were charged with willfully failing to pay an
"occupational tax" and with willfully failing to register, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 4412. The

wagering tax statute, 26 U.S.C. § 4401, was similar to Subsection 212.0505. It imposed a

percentage tax on the gross amount of all wagers accepted by a wagering enterprise,

imposed additional yearly "occupational" taxes on such enterprises and required those

16(_..continued)

(5) The department may make available to the Secretary of the Treasury of
the United States or his delegate, the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue
of the United States or his delegate, the Secretary of the Department of the
Interior of the United States or his delegate, or the proper officer of any state
or his delegate, exclusively for official purposes, information to comply with
any formal agreement for the mutual exchange of state information with the
Internal Revenue Service of the United States, the Department of the Interior
of the United States, or any state,
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subject to the tax to "register" with the government on IRS forms. 390 U.S, at 42. The
Court recognized that the occupational tax was not imposed in "‘an essentially non-criminal

”m

and regulatory area,” but was "directed to a ‘selective group inherently suspect of criminal
activities,” i.e., illegal gamblers. Id. at 57 (quoting Albertson v. SACB, 382 U.S. 70, 79, 86
S.Ct. 194, 199, 15 L.Ed.2d 165 (1965)). Moreover, much like the registration forms required
by Subsections 212.18(3)(a) and 212.17(4), the IRS forms at issue in Marchetti required the
taxpayers to state their names, business addresses and associates. Id. at 42. And, as under
Subsection 212.0505(4), see p. 12, n. 12 supra, payment of the wagering tax and/or
registering did not legalize the wagering activity being taxed. Id. at 44.

The Supreme Court in Marchetti held that the wagering tax/registration scheme was
unconstitutional under the Fifth Amendment. At the outset, the Court stated that the issue
was 'not whether the United States may tax activities which a State or Congress has declared
unlawful." 390 U.S. at 44. The government may do so. Rather, the issue was whether the
methods employed were "consistent with the limitations created by the privilege against self-
incrimination." Id. at 44. The Court held that they were not:

Petitioner was confronted by a comprehensive system of federal and state

prohibitions against wagering activities; he was required, on pain of criminal

prosecution, to provide information which he might reasonably suppose would

be available to prosecuting authorities, and which would surely prove a signi-

ficant "link in a chain" of evidence tending to establish his guilt.... It would

appear to follow that petitioner’s assertion of the privilege as a defense to this

prosecution was entirely proper, and accordingly should have sufficed to
prevent his conviction,
Id. at 48-49 (citation omitted). See also id. at 54 ("[p]rospective registrants can reasonably
expect that registration and payment of the occupational tax will significantly enhance the

likelihood of their prosecution for future acts, and that it will readily provide evidence which

will facilitate their convictions").
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Furthermore, the Supreme Court refused to rewrite the statute by imposing an
immunity provision equivalent to the Fifth Amendment. The Court ruled that the very
“terms of the wagering tax system make quite plan that Congress intended information
obtained as a consequence of registration and payment of the occupational tax to be
provided to interested prosecuting authorities.” 390 U.S. at pp. 58-59.

Similar defects lead to the downfall of the federal Marijuana Tax Act (former 26
US.C. § 4741 et seq.) in Leary v. United States, 395 U.S. 6, 89 S.Ct. 1532, 23 L.Ed.2d 57
(1969). The Marijuana Tax Act required that all persons who "deal in" marijuana pay an
anmual occupational tax. In addition, the Act required "transfer" taxes "upon all transfers
of marijuana." 395 U.S. at 14. Separate provisions required those paying the taxes to
"register" with the Internal Revenue Service. Still other provisions authorized the registra-
tion documents to be open to law enforcement personnel upon the payment of a fee by such
officials. Id. at 15. Relying upon Marchetti, the Court found the Act unconstitutional, since
taxpayers would have "ample reason to fear" that transmittal of information about their
payments would be disclosed to law enforcement authorities and provide a "“link in a chain"
of evidence tending to establish his guilt’ under the state marijuana laws then in effect.™
Id. at 16. And, as in Marchetti and Grosso, the Court refused to read into the Act an
immunity provision co-extensive with the Fifth Amendment in order to cure the constitu-
tional defect. Id. at 26-27.

The Third District correctly reasoned that Section 212.0505 was unconstitutional for
the same reasons expressed in Marchetti, Grosso and Leary. See Herre v. Department of
Revenue, No. 91-1913 (Fla. 3d DCA April 20, 1993), slip op. at p. 5. As with these defective

"

wagering and marijuana taxes, Section 212.0505 is not aimed at "‘an essentially non-criminal
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and regulatory area,™ but is "directed to a ‘selective group inherently suspect of criminal
activities,"7.e., the "unlawful" traffickers in cannabis and other controlled substances. Such
activity is criminal under both federal law and the laws of virtually every state in the union.
Thus, contrary to the Department’s claim, the registration requirements attendant to paying
this tax are every bit as revealing as those at issue in Marchetti, Grosso and Leary. Payment
and registration expressly does not legitimize the illegal activity. And, the information
sharing procedures in Subsection 213.053 provide ready access to the incriminating informa-
tion supplied by the taxpayer to federal and state law enforcement authorities.

The fact that the forms utilized by the Department do not themselves require disclo-
sure of the taxpayer’s "occupation or the nature of his business" does not insulate the
taxpayer from self-incrimination as the Department contends, see Brief for the Department,
at p. 7, because the tax itself is applicable only to those engaged in illegal activities. Courts
are obliged to respect a citizen’s invocation of his Fifth Amendment right so long as the risk
of incrimination is more than "insubstantial" or "trifling." Marchetti v. United States, 390 U.S.
at 53. As the United States Supreme Court emphasized in Hoffman v. United States, 341
U.S. 479, 488, 71 S.Ct. 814, 819, 95 L.Ed. 1118 (1951), the privilege must be sustained unless
it is "perfectly clear’ from a careful consideration of all circumstances in the case, ‘that the
witness is mistaken and that the answer[s] cannot possibly have such a tendency’ to incrimin-
ate." (emphasis in the original; citation omitted). Accord United States v. Goodwin, 625 F.2d
693, 701 (5th Cir. 1980). Moreover, a citizen "need not prove the danger, otherwise the
privilege would be meaningless." United States v. Goodwin, 625 F.2d at 700. A citizen
witness cannot be compelled to provide potentially incriminating information simply because

of a court’s "predictive judgment” of what would occur in future proceedings. Pillsbury
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Company v. Conboy, 459 U.S. 248, 261, 103 S.Ct. 608, 616, 74 L.Ed.2d 430 (1983). See also
In re Master Key Litigation, 507 F.2d 292, 293 (9th Cir. 1974) (privilege does not depend upon
likelihood but upon possibility of prosecution); In re Folding Carton Antitrust Litigation , 609
F.2d 867, 871 (7th Cir. 1979) (the privilege should not depend upon "a judge’s prediction of
the likelihood of prosecution"). The Department has failed to established that Herre’s fears
of self-incrimination were "insubstantial" or "trifling."

The constitutionality of Subsection 212.0505 presents a question of first impression
in this Court. The only Florida court to discuss the Fifth Amendment problem was the First
District Court of Appeal in Harris v. Department of Revenue, 563 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1st DCA
1990). The taxpayer in Harris also challenged the statute under the Fifth Amendment. The
First District recognized the applicability of Marchetti. 563 So.2d at 98. However, it ruled
that the confidentiality provisions of Subsection 213.053 fully cured the Fifth Amendment
problem, since, according to the First District, Section 213.053 "provide[d] sufficient
protections at least co-extensive with the privilege against self-incrimination." 593 So.2d at 99
(emphasis added).

In fact, Section 213.053 did no such thing. To be co-extensive with the Fifth
Amendment, a state statute must fully immunize the statements from both direct and
derivative use by both state and federal sovereigns. The issue was first discussed in by the
United States Supreme Court in Murphy v. Waterfront Commission, 378 U.S. 52, 78-79, 84
S.Ct. 1594, 1609, 12 L.Ed.2d 678 (1964). The Court in that case held that testimony sought
by state officials pursuant to a state grant of immunity could not be compelled under the
Fifth Amendment "unless the compelled testimony and its fruits may not be used in any

manner by federal officials in connection with a criminal prosecution against him." Murphy,
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378 U.S. at 79, 84 S.Ct. at 1609. Accord Agrella v. Rivkind, 404 So.2d 1113, 1115 (Fla. 3d
DCA 1981) ("[t]he Constitution requires ... that Agrella’s testimony under a state grant of
immunity not be used against him by the Federal Government," citing Murphy); Gilliam v.
State, 267 So.2d 658, 659 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972) (state immunity sufficient to overcome fear
of federal prosecution, citing Murphy)!’

These principles were reaffirmed by the Supreme Court in Kastigar v. United States,
406 U.S. 441, 456-57, 92 S.Ct. 1653, 1662-63, 32 1..Ed.2d 212 (1972), where the Court upheld

the federal "use” immunity statute, 18 U.S.C.§ 6001. The Court found that the scope of the
immunity conferred by the statute was co-extensive with the Fifth Amendment, because it
absolutely prohibited a sovereign from using either the statements themselves or any fruits
of those statements. In practical terms, this means that to prosecute a defendant who has
received Fifth Amendment-equivalent immunity, the prosecuting sovereign must demonstrate
that every witness and every "item" of evidence "was derived from legitimate, independent
sources." United States v. Hampton, 775 F.2d 1479, 1485, 1487-88 (11th Cir. 1985) (citations
omitted).

Moreover, the government’s burden is not limited to such "negation of taint";

rather, the government must go further and affirmatively prove legitimate

independent sources for its evidence and affirmatively establish that none of

the evidence presented to the grand jury was derived directly or indirectly from

the immunized testimony.
775 F.2d at 1485-86. (emphasis in original). See also United States v. North, 910 F.2d 843
(D.C. Cir. 1990); United States v. Palumbo, 897 F.2d 245 (7th Cir. 1990). Derivative fruits

would include using immunized statements to gain investigatory leads. Hampton, at 1487.

17" Justice White’s concurring opinion in Murphy referred to the Court’s holding as a
"rule forbidding federal officials access to statements made in exchange for a grant of state
immunity." Murphy, 378 U.S. at 93, 84 S.Ct. 1610 (emphasis added). The tax statute at issue
herein provides a ready means of "access" to incriminating "statements."
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They also would preclude using statements to build a case against other witnesses who
subsequently agree to cooperate. Id. at 1488.

Subsection 213.085 does not provide any assurance against "use" much less "derivative
use." On the contrary, as noted above, it expressly contemplates that both federal and state
law enforcement aunthorities can gain free, unlimited and unconditioned access to the
information merely by issuing a subpoena. The Internal Revenue Service -- a federal agency
with both civil and criminal investigatory powers -- does not even need a subpoena. See p.
14 supra. The Department asks rhetorically: "Of what good to law enforcement is a name
and the tax amount shown on a form?" Brief of the Department, at p. 8. The answer is
"plenty.” The tax only has to be paid on illegal drugs. Hence, the signature on the form is
an admission that the taxpayer has engaged in criminal activity resulting in the designated
profit. Such an admission, if not sufficient in an of itself to commence criminal charges,
certainly presents a link in a chain of incriminating evidence upon which such charges could
-- and we submit would -- be based.

Accordingly, the holding in Harris that the limited confidentiality provisions of Section
213.085 were co-extensive with the Fifth Amendment is seriously flawed and should not be
followed by this Court. Since it is not co-extensive, Section 212.0505 must be deemed
unconstitutional. As the Third District recognized, this conclusion is also compelled by a
review of other states which have passed similar drug tax or registration statutes.

For example, in 1989, the Idaho legislature enacted The Illegal Drug Stamp Tax Act,

I.C. § 63-4206. The Act, as originally worded, required those unlawfully in possession of

controlled substances to purchase and affix drug tax stamps to the substances or face civil

and criminal penalties. Although there was no requirement that the purchaser of drug
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stamps give identifying information when paying the tax, there was also no express prohibition
against using any information obtained by the state officials through the purchase of the
stamps in criminal proceedings or investigations. In State v. Smith, 813 P.2d 888 (Idaho
1991), the Supreme Court of Idaho struck down the statute as unconstitutional under the
Fifth Amendment and vacated the defendant’s conviction® People v. Duleff, 515 P.2d 1239
(Colo. 1973) (holding unconstitutional marijuana licensing requirement as violative of the
Fifth Amendment, citing Marchetti, Grosso and Leary).

A tax most analogous to Section 212.0505 was declared unconstitutional by the
Supreme Court of South Dakota in State v. Roberts, 384 N.W.2d 688 (S.D. 1986). In that
case, the court struck down a Luxury Tax on Controlled Substances and Marijuana as uncon-
stitutional under the Fifth Amendment, despite the fact that the statute provided that any
criminal prosecutions of those who paid the tax could not "be initiated or facilitated by the
disclosure of confidential information" provided. 384 N.W.2d at 690. The court found that
this provision was inadequate to fully safeguard a taxpayer’s Fifth Amendment rights,
because another provision of the statute created an exception to the confidentiality/non-
prosecution provision when information was officially requested by civil or criminal law
enforcement authorities. Id. at 691. As previously discussed, Section 212.0505 also contains
a "confidentiality" provision which is similarly plagued by a law enforcement exception.

On the other hand, courts have upheld statutes in states which have provided
exceptionless use and derivative use immunity for payment of drug taxes. In State v.

Durrant, 769 P.2d 1174 (Kan.), cert. denied sub nom. Dressel v. Kansas, 492 U.S. 923, 109

18 In 1990, the Idaho legislature amended the statute and cured the constitutional defect
by expressly barring use of any information provided in any criminal proceeding. See State
v. Smith, 813 P.2d at 890 & n. 1.
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S.Ct. 3254, 106 L.Ed.2d 600 (1989), the Supreme Court of Kansas upheld the constitu-
tionality of Kansas’ marijuana tax statute. However, the Kansas statute, unlike the ones in
either Florida or Idaho, expressly barred state employees from disclosing information
obtained through the tax payment procedure in any criminal proceedings, except those to
enforce the tax act. Moreover, in analyzing the constitutional question, the court recognized
that "[t]he validity of the statutes depend upon the scope of the immunity granted under the
act." 769 P.2d at 1181. The court went on to construe the immunity provided by the statute
to encompass both use and derivative use in order to be fully co-extensive with the Fifth
Amendment., Id. at 1183. See also Briney v. State Dept. of Revenue, 594 So. 2d 120 (Ala.
Civ. App. 1991), cert. denied, 1992 Ala, LEXIS 171 (Jan. 31, 1992) (upholding jeopardy
assessments under the Drugs and Controlled Substances Excise Tax Act on Fifth
Amendment challenge, since Act expressly barred use of information obtained from the
taxpayer "in any criminal proceeding ... unless such information is independently obtained™);
Sisson v. Triplett, 428 N.W.2d 565 (Minn. 1988) (upholding Minnesota Marijuana and
Controlled Substance Taxation Act, since it afforded taxpayer immunity and contained
provisions to permit anonymous payment).

Section 212.0505 is just as unconstitutional as the similarly defective statutes in Idaho,
South Dakota and Colorado. It fails to provide use and derivative use immunity or the
equivalent, like the statutes in Kansas, Alabama, Minnesota and the revised Idaho statute.

Therefore, the Court must conclude, as did the Third District, that Section 212.0505 is

unenforceable and violative of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.
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C.  Section 212.0505 Violates Herre’s Rights Under
the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, Because
the Department of Revenue Has Never Promul-
gated the Requisite Rules and Regulations to
Permit Voluntary Payment

As noted in Section A supra, Subsection 212.18(2) requires the Department of
Revenue to "provide by rule and regulation” a specific "method" for paying the taxes set
forth in Chapter 212 and to "prepare instructions" for "all persons required by this chapter"
to pay taxes. However, since no such rules, regulations or instructions have ever been pro-
mulgated, Subsection 212.0505 is unenforceable. The Department of Revenue must be pre-
cluded from taxing citizens, and then adding delinquent penalties on top of it, under well
established principles of the Florida Administrative Procedure Act, the Due Process Clauses
of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, and the Florida Constitution.

The Department of Revenue is an administrative agency, governed by the Florida
Administrative Procedure Act ("FAPA"). See Section 120.52, Florida Statutes. Under
FAPA, an administrative agency is required to formally promulgate as a "rule" any
requirement which is of "general applicability that implements, interprets or prescribes law,
policy, procedure or practice requirements of the agency." Section 120.52(14), Florida
Statutes. Accord Gulfstream Park v. Div. of Pari-Mut. Wagering, 407 So.2d 263, 265 (Fla. 3d
DCA 1981), citing Department of Revenue v. U.S. Sugar Corp., 388 So.2d 586 (Fla. 1st DCA
1980). Indeed, any agency statement which seeks to "require compliance, or otherwise to
have the direct and consistent effect of law" is a "rule" requiring formal promulgation under
FAPA. State, Dept. of Admin. Etc., Person, v. Harvey, 356 So.2d 323, 325 (Fla. 1st DCA
1978), quoting McDonald v. Dep’t of Banking & Fin., 346 So.2d 569, 581 (Fla. 1st DCA

1977).
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The taxation procedures which the Department contends were violated and upon
which it seeks to justify the six figure tax and penalties are plainly "rules” within the meaning
of the FAPA. The (non-existent) procedures are meant to be of "general applicability” to
all prospective taxpayers who fall within the scope of Section 212.0505 and would be needed
to "implement” and "interpret" Subsection 212.0505. However, the Department of Revenue
has not promulgated any rules or regulations, despite the separate, express directive to do
so in Section 212,18(2). Since there are no rules, regulations, methods or instructions
established for paying taxes under Section 212.0505, Section 212.0505 is void and unenforce-
able as a matter of law. See Gulfstream Park, 407 So.2d at 265 (holding that requirement
of Division of Pari-Mutual Wagering, Department of Business Regulation, concerning time
period for seeking a racing permit was a "rule of general applicability" which had not been
promulgated under the FAPA as required and, therefore, "shall not be given effect”)
(citation omitted); Florida Department of Offender Rehabilitation v. Walsh, 352 So.2d 575
(Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (per curiam) (finding that the "Directive” issued by the Florida
Department of Offender Rehabilitation was a "rule" within the meaning of FAPA and was,
therefore, "void" since it had never been promulgated as such as required by FAPA).

The Department of Revenue’s attempt to enforce Section 212.0505 absent any rules,
regulations or methods of payment also violates Herre’s due process rights. Federal courts

recently were faced with a similar problem. Under the Bank Secrecy Act, 31 U.S.C. §§

5311-5324, Congress requires financial institutions to file currency transaction reports but
has delegated to the Department of the Treasury the authority to define the circumstances
under which reporting must occur, as well as the manner in which it must occur. Due to this

delegation of authority, the United States Supreme Court has held that the Bank Secrecy
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Act, standing alone, imposes no duties on the publicuntil implementing regulations have been
properly promulgated . California Bankers Ass’n v. Schultz, 416 U.S. 21, 26, 94 S.Ct. 1494, 39
L.Ed.2d 812 (1974) ("we think it important to note that the Act’s civil and criminal penalties
attach only upon violation of regulations promulgated by the Secretary; if the Secretary
were to do nothing, the Act itself would impose no penalties on anyone").

Where the Treasury Department has not followed its Congressional mandate and
clearly specified the circumstances under which forms must be filed, courts have held that
the statutory reporting requirement is unenforceable. For example, in United States v.
Reinis, 794 F.2d 506 (9th Cir. 1986), the defendant was charged with aiding and abetting a

bank’s failure to file currency transaction reports ("CTRs") under 31 U.S.C. § 5313(a),
conspiring to do so under 18 U.S.C. § 371 and with concealing material information from
the IRS in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001. Reinis ran a money laundering operation and

made a series of "structured" cash deposits at a bank to avoid the CTR filing requirement.
Since no regulation prohibited structuring at the time, the government relied upon language
in Form 4789. The court rejected the government’s argument on the grounds that the form
"was never promulgated pursuant to the rule making requirements” of the federal Adminis-

trative Procedure Act and reversed Reinis’ conviction. 794 F.2d at 508

¥ Accord United States v. Richter, 610 F. Supp. 480, 489 (N.D, Ill. 1985) (form 4789
deemed an improperly promulgated rule barring prosecution); United States v. $200,000 In
United States Currency, 590 F. Supp. 866, 873-74 (S.D. Fla. 1984) (finding that Customs form
4790 was an improperly promulgated "rule" and barring civil forfeiture proceedings based
thereon). Courts have consistently barred criminal prosecutions under due process prin-
ciples for lack of notice where the Department of Treasury has failed to promulgate appro-
propriate regulations. See, e.g., United States v. Denemark, 779 F.2d 1559 (11th Cir. 1986);
United States v. St. Michael’s Credit Union, 880 F.2d 579, 593-596 (1st Cir. 1989); United
States v. Bucey, 876 F.2d 1297 (7th Cir. 1989); United States v. Mastronardo, 849 F.2d 799
(3d Cir. 1988); United States v. Gimbel, 830 F.2d 621 (7th Cir. 1987); United States v. Dela
Espriella, 781 F.2d 1432 (9th Cir. 1986); United States v. Varbel, 780 F.2d 758 (9th Cir.
1986); United States v. Anzalone, 766 F.2d 676 (1st Cir. 1985).
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These principles are not unique or limited to litigation under the federal Bank
Secrecy Act. In United States v. Levy, 553 F.2d 969 (5th Cir. 1976), a defendant was

prosecuted for filing a false statement with the IRS in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7602. IRS
agents required Levy to fill out a Form 433-AB and list all his assets. Levy filled out the

form but concealed some of his assets. The Fifth Circuit nonetheless reversed Levy’s convic-
tion, because there was no statute or regulation authorizing the agents to require Levy to
use the Form 433-AB. The Court then held that "an indispensable first step on the road to
a felony prosecution, and conviction" for a defendant’s failure to properly file a form was
the proper promulgation of the form through administrative regulations. Id. at 974-75.
Absent "validation" by the publication, notice and comment procedures of the Florida
Administrative Procedure Act ("FAPA"), 120.52, Florida Statutes, the taxes and penalties
imposed under Section 212.0505 cannot stand any more than the prosecution in Levy »
Similarly, the United States Supreme Court in Florida v. Wells, 495 U.S. 1, 110 S.Ct.
1632, 109 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990), recently upheld the Florida Supreme Court’s decision to exclude
evidence found in a closed container during an inventory search, solely because the Florida
Highway Patrol had no "standardized ... procedure” with respect to the opening of closed

containers. See also United States v. Hahn, 922 F.2d 243 (5th Cir. 1991) (invalidating

% FAPA’s notice and comment requirements are not merely technical; rather they are
significant requirements designed to assure the quality and responsiveness of agency
policymaking. The United States Supreme Court in Chrysler Corp. v. Brown, 441 U.S, 281,
303, 99 S.Ct. 1705, 60 L.Ed.2d 208 (1979), found that the parallel notice and comment

requirements of the federal Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 553 "assure fairness
and mature consideration of rules of general application.”" See also Chamber of Commerce

of the United States v. O.S.H.A., 636 F.2d 464, 470 (D.C. Cir. 1980); American Bus Associa-
tion v. United States, 627 F. 2d 525, 528 (D.C. Cir. 1980). "Even seemingly technical or
proforma publication requirements must be strictly enforced because these requirements
afford an opportunity for exchange of ideas among regulating agencies, regulated citizens,
and experts in the field being regulated." Rivera v. Patino, 524 F. Supp. 136, 148 (N.D. Cal.
1981).
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inventory search by Internal Revenue Service where IRS had never promulgated a standard
procedure or guidelines for conducting such a search)?

Application of Section 212.0505 to Herre presents similar constitutional problems,
Since the Department of Revenue has never promulgated regulations governing the manner
and method of payment of taxes, the Department had no authority to require Herre to pay
them, much less penalize him for failing to comply with the non-existent regulations.

Before the Third District, the Department erroneously contended that it did not need
to promulgate rules and regulations, asserting that the Florida Legislature simply gave it the
discretion to make rules. The Department’s argument was based on a misinterpretation of
Section 212.18(2), Florida Statutes. That provision provides in full:

(2) The department shall administer and enforce the assessment and
collection of the taxes, interest, and penalties imposed by this chapter. It is
authorized to make and publish such rules and regulations not inconsistent
with this chapter, as it may deem necessary in enforcing its provision in order
that there shall not be collected on the average more than the rate levied
herein. The department shall provide by rule and regulation a method for
accomplishing this end. It shall prepare instructions to all persons required by
this chapter to collect and remit the tax to guide such persons in the proper
collection and remission of such tax and to instruct such persons in the
practices that may be necessary for the purposes of enforcement of this
chapter and the collection of the tax imposed hereby.

The Department contended that the "as it may deem necessary" clause gave it the discretion
to not implement any rules. However, that clause plainly applies only to the sentence in
which it is contained, which directs that the Department ensure "that there shall not be

collected on the average more than the rate levied herein." The Department simply ignored

the express, mandatory nature of the remainder of Section 212.18(2), which repeatedly uses

2L The absence of any inventory search policy by the Monroe County Sheriff’s

Department, see p. 8, n. 11supra, is also one of the many reasons why the search conducted
in this case was unconstitutional.
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the mandatory term "shall" when directing the Department to promulgate "by rule and
regulation" a specific "method" for payment of the tax and "instructions" to "guide" and
“instruct” the taxpayer.

Even if Section 212.18(2) could be ignored, the Department has never cited any
authority for the proposition that an administrative agency can levy taxes, surcharges and
additional "penalties" -- as it has done here -- wholly on its own, without enacting any rules
or regulations. If Section 212.0505 is entirely "self-executing," as the Department claimed
before the Third District, it is blatantly unconstitutional, since it permits the Department to
act arbitrarily and at its whim.

II. APPLICATION OF SECTION 212.0505 TO HERRE
VIOLATES HIS FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH
AMENDMENT RIGHTS AGAINST BEING TWICE PLACE
IN JEOPARDY FOR THE SAME OFFENSE

Under the circumstances of this case, application of Section 212.0505 would also
violate Herre’s Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights against being twice placed in
jeopardy. See In Re: Kurth Ranch, 986 F.2d 1308 (9th Cir. 1993) (holding Montana’s drug
tax unconstitutional under the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment). In 1988,
Herre pleaded nole contendere to attempted trafficking in the same marijuana at issue
herein and was sentenced and fined. Only afterwards did the Department of Revenue seek
to impose the additional $236.250.00 "tax" under Section 212.0505.

A statute need not be labeled criminal to constitute "punishment" for double jeopardy
purposes. "It is the effect, not the form of the law" which determines whether the double
jeopardy or ex post facto provisions of the Constitution apply. Weaver v. Graham , 450 U.S.

24, 31, 101 S.Ct. 960, 965, 67 L.Ed.2d 17 (1981). As the Court recognized in Cummings v.
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Missouri, 4 Wall. 277, 325-26, 18 L.Ed.2d 356 (1867), in discussing the retroactive application
of "criminal" laws:

The Constitution deals with substance, not shadows. Its inhibition was leveled

at the thing, not the name. It intended that the rights of the citizen should be

secure against deprivation for past conduct by legislative enactment, under any

form, however disguised.

4 Wall at 325. See also Austin v. United States, No. 92-6073 (U.S. April 20, 1993), 7 Fla. L.
Weekly Fed. §572, at §574 (civil forfeitures deemed sufficiently punitive to be limited by
Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment); Beazell v. Ohio, 269 U.S. 167, 170, 46
S.Ct. 68, 70 L.Ed. 216 (1925) (theex post facto provision is addressed to laws "whatever their
form" which increase punishment); Burgess v. Salmon, 97 U.S. (7 Otto) 381, 384, 24 L.Ed.
1104 (1878) (ostensibly civil tobacco tax could not be retroactively applied, despite its civil
label); Ex Parte Garland, 71 U.S. 333, 18 L.Ed. 366 (1867) (a law that barred lawyers from
practicing unless they professed an oath of loyalty found to be unconstitutionally ex post
facto). See generally Hicks v. Feiock, 485 U.S. 624, 108 S. Ct. 1423, 1429, 99 L.Ed.2d 721
(1988) ("the labels affixed either to the proceeding or to the relief imposed ... are not
controlling and will not be allowed to defeat the applicable protections of federal
constitutional law").

Hence, if a law on its face is "civil" that does not end a Court’s inquiry into whether
the imposition of its sanctions would violate the double jeopardy clause or constitute an ex
post facto violation. A Court must determine whether its true purpose is to punish.

The Supreme Court in United States v. Halper, 490 U.S. 435, 109 S. Ct. 1892, 104
L.Ed.2d 487 (1989), explained how and to what degree a civil statute’s purposes render it

"punitive," In Halper, the manager of a medical laboratory that provided medical service to

patients eligible for benefits under Medicare was convicted of submitting false claims for
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federal reimbursement, in violation of the criminal false claims statute, 18 U.S.C. § 287. On

65 occasions Halper had requested reimbursement of $12 per claim when in fact his com-
pany was entitled to only $3 per claim, thereby defrauding the government of $585. He was
fined and sentenced to two years of imprisonment. 490 U.S. at 437. Following his convic-
tion, the government brought a civil action against him under the False Claims Act. See

31 US.C. § 3729. That Act provided for a civil penalty of $2,000 per claim, "an amount

equal to 2 times the amount of damages the Government sustains, because of the act of that
person and costs of the civil action." Harper’s $585 fraud would thus have resulted in a
recovery by the government of more than $130,000. 490 U.S. at 438.

The district court held that Halper’s "civil" penalty violated the Double Jeopardy
Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the United States Supreme Court unanimously agreed.
While acknowledging that the government can often pursue both criminal and civil sanctions
for the same underlying conduct, the Halper Court announced "a rule for the rare case, the
case such as the one before us, where a fixed-penalty provision subjects a prolific but small-
gauge offender to a sanction overwhelmingly disproportionate to the damages he has
caused." 490 U.S. at 449.

The Court expressly rejected the contention that the civil label controlled. As the
Court explained: "The notion of punishment, as we commonly understand it, cuts across the
division between civil and criminal law.... Simply put, a civil as well as a criminal sanction
constitutes punishment when the sanction as applied in the individual case serves the goals
of punishment." Id. at 1902-03. The goals of "punishment," the Halper Court further
explained, were retribution and deterrence, neither of which were legitimate, non-punitive
governmental objectives. Id. at 1902 (quoting Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 539, n. 20, 99

S.Ct. 1861, 1874, n. 20, 60 L.Ed.2d 447 (1979)). The Court thus held that "a civil sanction
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that cannot fairly be said solely to serve a remedial purpose, but rather can be explained
only asalso serving either retributive or deterrent purposes, is punishment, as we have come
to understand the term." Id. at 1902 (emphasis added).

The new rule focuses on two factors. First, if the express purposes of a statute are
not "solely" remedial, then the Double Jeopardy Clause will apply. See also Austin v. United
States, No. 92-6073 (U.S. April 20, 1993), 7 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. $572, at $574 (although civil
forfeitures serve "remedial purposes,” they are also punitive and, therefore, subject to
limitations under the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment). Second, in the
absence of express language indicating a legislative purposes, if the civil sanction is so
disproportionate that it "crosses the line between remedy and punishment," the clause is
implicated. Applying this rule, the Supreme Court remanded the case to the district court
to permit the government to present an accounting of its damages and costs. See also United
States v. Hall, 730 F. Supp. 646, 655-56 (M.D. Pa. 1990) (government’s attempt to impose
disproportionate civil penalty on defendant who had pled guilty to charge of transporting
negotiable instruments out of the country without filing currency reports, in violation of 31

U.S.C. §8 5316(b) and 5322(b), violated double jeopardy).

Thus, under Halper, this Court must look at the sanctions imposed by Section
212.0505 as applied in this case to determine whether they serve "solely" a remedial purpose.
If the sanctions are not "solely" remedial but "also" serve retributive or deterrent purposes,
then the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment prevents their application. An
examination of Section 212.0505 demonstrates that the sanction was meant to punish, at
least in part. Hence, the Double Jeopardy Clause applies and the "tax" in this case is

unconstitutional. This is so, for two reasons.
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First, under the circuamstances of this case, the tax is just as disproportionate as the
one in Halper. The Department of Revenue has stipulated that the State’s cost of prose-
cuting Herre was only $117. See p. 4 supra. Yet, the State not only confiscated the
contraband seized but "taxed" Herre at total of $236,250.00 -- or more than 2,000 times the
State’s costs

Second, the tax only applies to those who deal "unlawfully" in cannabis or controlled
substances. Since the purportedly civil "tax" is inextricably linked to the criminal activity,
the tax itself must be deemed to have been motivated, at least in part, by punitive purposes.

An analogous situation occurred in United States v. Brown, 381 U.S. 437, 85 S.Ct.
1707, 14 L.Ed.2d 484 (1965). In that case, the Court found that a lJaw barring Communist
party members from offices in labor unions was punitive and constituted an impermissible
bill of attainder. The element of punishment was found in the fact that "the purpose of the
Statute before us is to purge the governing boards of labor unions of those whom Congress
regards as guilty of subversive acts and associations and therefore unfit to fill [union]
positions...." 381 U.S. at 460 (emphasis added). The Solicitor General in Brown had argued
that the statute did not constitute punishment in that it was enacted for preventive rather
than punitive reasons. 381 U.S. at 456-7. The Court disagreed, finding that:

[i]t would be archaic to limit the definition of "punishment" to "retribution."

Punishment serves several purposes; retributive, rehabilitative, deterrent --
and preventive. One of the reasons society imprisons those convicted of

22 In Helvering v. Mitchell, 303 U.S. 391, 58 S.Ct. 630, 82 L.Ed. 917 (1938), the Supreme
Court upheld the constitutionality of civil penalties of 50 percent for evading income taxes.
The Court viewed the excessive sanction as remedial, in part, because it was intended to
"reimburse the Government for the heavy expense of investigation and the loss resulting
form the taxpayer’s fraud." 303 U.S. at 401, 58 S.Ct. at 634. In sharp contrast, the cost of
investigation in this case was tiny in proportion to the amount of the "tax" levied.
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crimes is to keep them from inflicting future harm, but that does not make
imprisonment any less punishment,

381 U.S. at 458. See also Austin v. United States, No. 92-6073 (U.S. April 20, 1993), 7 Fla.
L. Weekly Fed. S572, at S577 (civil forfeitures deemed punitive, in part, because "Congress
has chosen to tie forfeiture directly to the commission of drug offenses").

Section 212.0505 must be considered punitive under Brown, because it too is aimed
solely against those who the Florida legislature views as "guilty" of illegal behavior -- the
"unlawful" trafficking in drugs. Hence, the "tax" serves retributive purposes and seeks to
deter future "unlawful" behavior by the degree of taxation.

That the "tax" imposed by Section 212.0505 must be considered "punishment” is also
supported by a review of United States Supreme Court cases construing, in a number of dif-
ferent contexts, whether a tax is, in fact, a penalty. In Lipke v. Lederer, 259 U.S. 557, 66
L.E.2d 1061, 42 S.Ct. 549 (1922), the Court reviewed a federal prohibition era statute which

[113

made the manufacture and sale of liquor illegal and imposed a tax on the "illegal manufac-

It

ture [and] sale™ of liquor. The Court considered this "tax" to, in fact, constitute a penalty:
The mere use of the word "tax" in an act primarily designed to define and
suppress crime is not enough to show that within the true intendment of the

term a tax was laid. [Citation omitted.] When by its very nature and
imposition it is a penalty, it must be so regarded. [Citation omitted.]
Evidence of crime ... is essential to assessment ... [of the tax]. It lacks all the
ordinary characteristics of a tax, whose primary function "is to provide for the
support of the government" and clearly involves the idea of punishment for
infraction of the law -- the definite function of a penalty.

Lipke, 259 U.S. at 561-62 (emphasis added).
As with the liquor "tax" at issue in Lipke, "[e]vidence of crime ... is essential to

assessment" of the tax created by Section 212.0505. Only "unlawful" transactions in cannabis
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and controlled substances are subject to the "tax." It, too, "lacks all the ordinary character-
istics of a tax."

Before the Third District Court of Appeal, the Department of Revenue ignored Lipke
and, instead, relied upon United States v. Sanchez, 340 U.S. 42, 71 S.Ct. 108, 95 L.E.2d 47
(1950). See also Harris v. State, Dept. of Revenue, 563 So.2d at 99 (finding Sanchez
controlling in construing Section 212.0505). In Sanchez, the Supreme Court temporarily
upheld the constitutionality of the Marijuana Tax Act® As noted in Sanchez, in enacting
the Act, Congress expressly had two objectives -- to raise revenue and to "render extremely
difficult the acquisition of marijuana by persons who desire it for illicit uses.” 340 U.S. at
43, 71 S.Ct. at 109 (citing legislative history). See also id. at 44, 71 S.Ct. at 110 (noting "the
congressional purpose of restricting traffic in marihuana to accepted industrial and medicinal
channels"). Accordingly, under the Supreme Court’s decision in Halper, the Marijuana Tax
Act would be subject to the Double Jeopardy Clause since it was not enacted "solely" for
regulatory purposes.

Moreover, the Supreme Court inSanchez distinguished Lipke, because the Marijuana
Tax Act was "not conditioned upon the commission of a crime." 340 U.S. at 45, 71 S.Ct. at

110. "Since [the taxpayer’s] tax liability does not in effect rest on criminal conduct, the tax

~ can be properly called a civil rather than a criminal sanction." Id. Like the tax in Lipke,

Section 212.0505 is expressly conditioned on the commission of criminal conduct -- the
"unlawful” sale, use, manufacture, etc. of cannabis. Therefore, it is more analogous to the

defective statute in Lipke than to the Marijuana Tax Act at issue in Sanchez.

B As discussed in Section I(B) supra, the Act was eventually declared unconstitutional
by the United States Supreme Court in Leary v. United States, 395 U.S. 6, 89 S.Ct. 1532, 23
L.Ed.2d 57 (1969).
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Inin Re: Kurth Ranch, 986 F.2d 1308 (9th Cir. 1993), the Ninth Circuit struck down
a similar drug tax enacted by the Montana legislature as unconstitutional under the Double
Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment. Despite its "civil tax" label, the court found the
$100 an ounce tax on marijuana to be punitive. The court further found that the state failed
to meetifs burden of establishing, if it could, that the tax accurately reflected its "costs and
expenses." 986 F.2d at 1312, The court refused to take "judicial notice" of the allegedly
"staggering costs associated with fighting drug abuse in this country." Id. As previously
noted, in the instant case the Department actually stipulated to its actual costs and never,
before reaching the Third District, even attempted to justify the "tax" based on alleged
societal "costs."

Section 212.0505 was plainly enacted, at least in part, for punitive purposes.
Accordingly, its application to Herre violated his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights
against being twice placed in jeopardy.

III. THE TAX ASSESSMENT MUST BE VACATED, BECAUSE
ALL EVIDENCE FROM THE ILLEGAL SEIZURE AND
ITS FRUITS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN CONSIDERED
UNDER THE EXCLUSIONARY RULE

The language of the Fourth Amendment draws no distinction between civil and
criminal proceedings. It simply states that:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons , houses, papers, and
effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and
no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or
affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched and the
persons or things to be seized.
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Accordingly, the amendment’s restrictions have repeatedly been held applicable to
governmental intrusions of personal privacy or liberty outside of the narrow area of criminal
investigation*

In recent years, the Court has emphasized that the primary remedy for Fourth
Amendment violations should be limited to situations where its deterrent purposes will be
served?® Nonetheless, as in the double jeopardy context, the label of the proceeding is not
determinative of whether the exclusionary rule applies. Thus, for example, the Supreme
Court has held that the exclusionary rule applies to civil proceedings under the Occupational
Safety and Health Act, Marshall v. Barlow’s, Inc., 436 U.S. 307, 98 S.Ct. 1816, 56 L.Ed.2d 305
(1978), and to civil forfeiture proceedings, One 1958 Plymouth Sedan v. Pennsylvania, 380
U.S. 693, 85 S.Ct. 1246, 14 L.Ed.2d 170 (1965).

In One 1958 Plymouth Sedan, Pennsylvania police stopped and searched a car, find-
ing in the trunk thirty-one cases of liquor not bearing Pennsylvania tax seals. Pursuant to
statute, the State filed a petition for forfeiture of the automobile. At the hearing, the owner

of the car sought dismissal on the ground that the forfeiture of the automobile depended

A See, e.g., Almeida-Sanchez v. United States, 413 U.S. 266, 270. 93 S.Ct. 2535, 37
L.Ed.2d 596 (1973); United States v. Biswell, 406 U.S. 311, 316-17, 92 S.Ct. 1593, 32 L.Ed.2d
87 (1972); Wyman v. James, 400 U.S. 309, 91 S.Ct. 381, 27 L.Ed.2d 408 (1971); See v.
Seattle, 387 U.S. 541, 87 S.Ct. 1737, 18 L.LEd.2d 943 (1967); Camara v. Municipal Court, 387
U.S. 523, 87 S.Ct. 1727, 18 L.Ed.2d 930 (1967); Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 85
S.Ct. 1678, 14 L.Ed.2d 510 (1965).

¥ See, e.g., United States v. Peltier, 422 U.S. 531, 536-39, 95 S.Ct. 2313, 45 L.Ed.2d 374
(1975) (noting that in applying the exclusionary rule to unconstitutionally seized evidence,
the Court has relied principally upon the exclusionary rule’s deterrent purposes); United
States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 348, 94 S.Ct. 613, 38 L.Ed.2d 561 (1974) (characterizing the
exclusionary rule as "a judicially created remedy designed to safeguard Fourth Amendment
rights generally through its deterrent effect, rather than a personal constitutional right of the
party aggrieved"); Donovan v. Sarasota Concrete Co., 693 F.2d 1061, 1070 (11th Cir. 1982)
("the primary function of an exclusionary sanction is to deter unlawful conduct").
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upon the admission of evidence that police obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment’s
prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court
rejected this objection and held that the exclusionary rule was inapplicable. The Supreme
Court reversed.

Noting that the object of a forfeiture proceeding is "to penalize for the commission
of an offense against the law," the Court characterized the proceeding as "quasi-criminal”
in nature. Plymouth Sedan, 380 U.S. at 700. In reaching this conclusion, the Court focused
on the substantial penalty which the forfeiture proceeding imposed on the defendant:
forfeiture of a car valued at approximately one thousand dollars. Given the fact the
defendant could have received a less severe penalty, a fine that could not exceed five
hundred dollars, for the criminal conviction for the same offense, the Court reasoned that
the exclusionary rule should apply.

It would be anomalous indeed, under the circumstances, to hold that in the

criminal proceeding the illegally seized evidence is excludable, while in the

forfeiture proceeding, requiring the determination that the criminal law has been
violated, the same evidence would be admissible.
Id. at 701 (emphasis added).

The same "anomalous" situation would occur here if the exclusionary rule did not
apply. The vehicle Herre was driving was searched and he was arrested by State criminal
law enforcement officers investigating criminal conduct. Indeed, following his arrest, Herre
was successfully prosecuted, imprisoned and fined. Following his conviction, the State
sought to impose an even greater "fine" using Section 212.0505 -- a statute expressly
"requiring the determination that the criminal law has been violated." In each situation, the

proof of a criminal violation in a noncriminal proceeding brings on the imposition of a

related, but noncriminal sanction. In Plymouth Sedan, proof that the defendant illegally
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transported liquor in his car resulted in the forfeiture of the vehicle involved in that
transportation. In the instant case, proof that Herre committed an "unlawful" drug offense
resulted in the imposition of a "tax" based upon that "unlawful" behavior.

The Department of Revenue nonetheless contends that the exclusionary rule does
not apply to proceedings under Section 212.0505, relying principally upon United States v.
Janis, 428 U.S. 433, 96 S.Ct. 3021, 49 LEd.2d 1046 (1976). However, the Department’s
reliance uponJanis is misplaced.

InJanis, the Supreme Court refused to extend the exclusionary rule to a federal civil
tax proceeding where evidence was illegally obtained by state authorities. In that case, the
Los Angeles police seized $4,940.00 in cash and gambling paraphernalia from Janis pursuant
to an invalid search warrant. Janis, 428 U.S. at 436-38. Although the Fourth Amendment
prohibited the State and the federal government from using the evidence in criminal trials,
id. at 458, the Internal Revenue Service brought a civil action in federal court for unpaid
taxes from Janis’ undeclared income. The federal government based its claim on the gamb-
ling records and other evidence that local police illegally seized. Id. at 437.

The district and circuit courts held in favor of Janis on the ground that the evidence
had been illegally obtained. Id. at 439. The Supreme Court, however, reversed and held
"that the judicially created exclusionary rule should not be extended to forbid the use in the
civil proceeding of one sovereign of evidence seized by a criminal law enforcement of
another sovereign." Id. at 459-60. In reaching this conclusion, the Court explained that the
deterrent function of the exclusionary rule would not be served in intersovereign situations:

Working, as we must, with the absence of convincing empirical data,
common sense dictates that the deterrent effect of the exclusion of relevant

evidence is highly attenuated when the "punishment" imposed upon the
offending criminal enforcement officer is the removal of that evidence from
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a civil suit by or against a different sovereign. In Elkins, the Court indicated

that the assumed interest of criminal law enforcement officers in the criminal

proceedings of another sovereign counter-balanced this attenuation sufficiently

to justify an exclusionary rule. Here, however, the attenuation is further

augmented by the fact that the proceeding is one to enforce only the civil law

of the other sovereign.

Id. at 457-58 (footnote omitted; emphasis added). In a footnote, the Court continued that
if Janis had proved federal participation or involvement in the illegal search and seizure by
State officials, the outcome may have been otherwise:

As stated above... we decide the present case on the assumption that no such

agreement or arrangement existed. Respondent remains free on remand to

attempt to prove that there was federal participation in fact. If he succeeds

in that proof, he raises the question, not presented by this case, whether the

exclusionary rule is to be applied in a civil proceeding involving an

intrasovereign violation.
Id. at 455-56, n. 31.

Instead of being controlled by the holding of Janis, the instant case presents the
situation expressly reserved by Janis: Whether the deterrent purposes of the exclusionary
rule are met in an entirely intrasovereign tax proceeding. See Savina Home Industries v.
Secretary of Labor, 594 F.2d 1358, 1362 n. 5 (10th Cir. 1979) ("[0]f course, this rationale [in
Janis] does not bar invocation of the rule in cases of ‘intrasovereign’ violations™), citing
Pizzarello v. United States, 408 F.2d 579 (2d Cir.) (records seized by IRS agent, participating
in joint investigation of narcotics trafficking for purposes of criminal prosecution for tax
evasion, also suppressed in subsequent civil proceeding for assessments and fraud penalties),
cert. denied, 396 U.S. 986, 90 S.Ct. 481, 24 L.Ed.2d 450 (1969); Vander Linden v. United
States, 502 F. Supp. 693, 697 (S.D. Iowa 1980) (“the ‘deterrent effect’ in an ‘intrasovereign’

situation would be furthered by excluding illegally obtained evidence in subsequent civil trial

proceedings"); Lassoff v. Gray, 207 F. Supp. 843, 846-49 (W.D. Ky. 1962) (civil tax assess-
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ment held invalid when based solely on evidence illegally seized by IRS); United States v.
Modes, Inc. and Budhrani, 187 F. Supp. 1466, 1471 (C.I.T. 1992) (applying exclusionary rule
to civil customs proceeding, because "this case, unlike Janis, involves an intrasovereign
constitutional violation") (collecting cases). Contra Harris v. State, Dept. of Revenue, 563
So.2d at 100 (construing Janis as precluding use of exclusionary rule in all civil tax
proceedings)

The chief purpose the exclusionary rule, "is to deter future unlawful police conduct."
Janis, 428 U.S. at 446 (citing Calandra). "In evaluating the need for a deterrent sanction,
one must first identify those who are to be deterred," id. at 448, those whose "conduct ...
is to be controlled." Ibid. In the instant case, it is the state police officers themselves whose
conduct needs to be deterred. It would be anomalous indeed, if State law enforcement
officials could use their awesome police powers along the highways of this State to stop
vehicles illegally at their whim. While they could not criminally prosecute any drug couriers
ensnared in such a dragnet fashion, if the exclusionary rule did not apply, they could simply
use the drug "tax" to impose exorbitant "civil" penalties. Such aberrant police behavior is
the very sort the exclusionary rule was meant to deter. Moreover, since the legality of the
search was not addressed in the parallel criminal proceeding, application of the exclusionary
rule would have substantial deterrent value. See Pullin v. Louisiana State Racing

Commission, 484 So. 2d 105 (La. 1986). For the same reason, the cost of applying the

% The Supreme Court in G.M. Leasing Corp. v. United States, 429 U.S. 338, 97 S.Ct. 619,
50 L.Ed.2d 530 (1977), also belies the Department’s broad reading ofJanis. InG.M. Leasing
the Court stated that there was no support for the proposition that "the warrant protections
of the Fourth Amendment do not apply to invasions of privacy in furtherance of tax collec-
tion." 429 U.S. at 356, 97 S.Ct. at 630. Indeed, the Court noted that "one of the primary
evils intended to be eliminated by the Fourth Amendment was the massive intrusion on
privacy undertaken in the collection of taxes..." Id. at 355, 97 S.Ct. at 630.
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deterrent sanction of the rule will be negligible under the circumstances of this case. The
rule is meant to deter illegal police actions?’

Since the exclusionary rule applies in this case, the Court must vacate the tax
assessment in its entirety. The search was conducted, as Deputy Emral conceded, without
probable cause to believe any crime occurred® Without evidence of the seized marijuana,

the tax assessment has no factual basis whatsoever.

IV. THE TAX ASSESSMENT MUST BE VACATED,
BECAUSE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE
THAT HERRE WAS ENGAGED IN UNLAWFUL

TRAFFICKING IN MARIJUANA

Under Florida law, an individual will be deemed to have actual possession of contra-
band where he has "physical possession” of it and "knowledge of such physical possession.”
Torres v. State, 520 So. 2d 78, 79 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), quoting Hively v. State, 336 So. 2d 127,
129 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). If the individual does not have physical possession of contraband,
he can be found guilty of "constructively” possessing it where two criteria are met. First, he
must "know ... of its presence on or about his premises” and, second, he must have "the

ability to maintain control over said controlled substances." Brown v. State, 428 So. 2d 250

27 The only intrasovereign civil case decided by the Supreme Court since Janis is
Naturalization Service v. Lopez-Mendoza, 468 U.S. 1032, 104 S.Ct. 3479, 82 LL.LEd.2d 778
(1984). After balancing the interests at stake, the Supreme Court declined to apply the
exclusionary rule. It did so, in part, because the INS had "its own comprehensive scheme
for deterring Fourth Amendment violations by its officers,” including rules "restricting stop,
interrogation, and arrest practices..." 104 S.Ct. at 3487-88. The Department of Revenue
has no such internal procedures which would substitute for the deterrent value of the
exclusionary rule.

% The Department of Revenue did not seriously contest the illegality of the search in
the proceedings below. And, the Final Order indicated that Herre "was not suspected of
a crime" prior to the search. See p. 8, n. 10 supra. Therefore, we do not present an
extended discussion concerning the illegality of the search.
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(Fla.), cert. denied, 463 U.S. 1209, 103 S.Ct. 3541, 77 L.Ed.2d 1391 (1983). Accord Torres,
520 So. 2d at 79.

To establish constructive possession, the State, in turn, must establish three elements.
First, the individual must have dominion and control over the contraband. Second, the
individual must know of the presence of the contraband. Third, the individual must be
aware of its illegal nature. Brown, 428 So. 2d at 252; Herrera v. State, 532 So. 2d 54, 58
(Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Williams v. State, 529 So. 2d 345, 347 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Torres,
520 So. 2d at 80; Kuhn v. State, 439 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

Where the individual is the sole owner of property or a vehicle in which contraband
is found, knowledge properly may be inferred from that fact alone. See Devine v. State, 504
So. 2d 788, 789 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (citations omitted). However, where, as here, the
individual is not in exclusive possession or control of the property, "knowledge of the
contraband’s presence and the ability to control it will not be inferred." Torres, 520 So. 2d
at 80 (citations omitted). Accord Herrera v. State, 532 So. 2d 58; Williams v. State, 529 So.
2d at 347. Rather, the State must establish both the individual’s knowledge of the contra-
band and his control over it by "independent proof." Herrera v. State, 532 So. 2d at 58;
Williams v. State, 529 So. 2d at 347; Torres, 520 So. 2d at 80. These rules hold true even
where the contraband is in plain view. Torres, 520 So. 2d at 80; Johnson v. State, 456 So.
2d 923, 924 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). "Mere proximity to contraband, without more, is legally
insufficient to prove possession." Torres, 520 So. 2d at 80 (citations omitted).

The Department of Revenue failed to meet its burden of establishing a sufficient
factual basis to conclude that Herre had sole dominion and control over the marijuana. The

entire rationale behind the "inventory search" was the assumption that Mr. Lee existed and
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was the true renter of the vehicle being driven by Herre. Although the officers were
suspicious of Herre based upon the tip, by their own conduct and admissions they did not
even have probable cause to arrest Herre, much less proof sufficient to meet the
Department of Revenue’s burden of persuasion under Section 212.0505* No drugs were
visibly present, and Herre made no incriminatory statements.

Courts have reversed criminal convictions based upon considerablymore evidence of
these elements than were present in this case. For example, in Hively v. State, 336 So. 2d
127 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), Hively borrowed an automobile to drive the co-defendant home.
Two Orange County sheriff deputies observed the co-defendant smoking something, possibly
marijuana, inside the automobile. When the deputies stopped the vehicle, they smelled
marijuana and found a pipe on the console between the front bucket seats and a bag of
marijuana on the floor in front of the driver’s (Hively’s) seat. A further search of the
vehicle produced two marijuana cigarette butts and a "roach clip." The court reversed
Hively’s conviction for insufficient evidence of constructive possession. Despite the obvious
and open presence of marijuana in the car, the critical fact in the case was that Hively --
like Herre herein -- did not own the car.

In criminal cases, courts have consistently found legally insufficient evidence of

constructive possession under similar circumstances. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 456 So. 2d

2 At best, Deputy Emral had merely reasonable suspicion to conduct an investigation,
See generally Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 110 S.Ct. 2412, 110 L.Ed.2d 301 (1990) (an
anonymous tip corroborated only as to as to innocuous details at most gives rise to
reasonable suspicion and not probable cause); United States v. Campbell, 920 F.2d 793 (11th
Cir. 1991) (same); United States v. Solomon, 728 F, Supp. 1544 (8.D. Fla. 1990) (same). Cf.
McCarthy v. State, 536 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (anonymous tip that house was a
"dope house" combined with observations that after car arrived in parking lot, men emerged
and went inside briefly and subsequent furtive gestures upon approach by police did not
supply founded suspicion to justify stop of men).
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923, 924 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) (defendant did not live in apartment where contraband found
and accordingly he did not have dominion and control of it); Kuhn v. State, 439 So. 2d 291
(Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (individual found sitting in the cab of a pickup truck which held eleven
bales of marijuana in plain view, not dominion and control); Metzger v. State, 395 So. 2d
1259 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) (no constructive possession by guest who may not have been
aware of contraband). See also Williams v. State, 529 So. 2d 1234, 1235 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988)
(no constructive possession, in part, because contraband "was concealed within a container
underneath a couch"); Green v. State, 460 So. 2d 986 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (presence in
room with cocaine in plain view, coupled with knowledge of the illegal nature of substance
insufficient to sustain conviction absent evidence of dominion and control); Taylor v. State,
319 So. 2d 114 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975) (marijuana in plain view, but defendant-guest had no
control over premises).

The Department of Revenue’s evidence was insufficient as to the knowledge element
as well. InRita v. State, 470 So. 2d 80 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the State received information
that drugs were going to be off-loaded and driven away in a white refrigerated truck. They
found the boat, which contained marijuana residue. Later, they located the truck being
driven by the defendant. When the truck was stopped, the odor of marijuana was strong.
When the truck was searched, 3500 pounds of marijuana were found in the locked rear
cargo compartment. Rita had no key that would unlock the rear compartment, and there
were no windows or other openings between the cab and cargo compartment that would
permit access to or physical observation of the materials inside. 470 So. 2d at 84-85. The
defendant told the police he had been told by an unidentified man to drive the truck from

a bar in South Dade County to a "parking lot." Id. at 85.
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Based upon these facts, Rita’s probation was revoked from a prior offense in
Suwannee County. He was also substantively charged in Dade County with constructive
possession of the marijuana. However, the substantive charges were dismissed at the trial
level. The First District reversed the probation revocation, holding that there was
insufficient evidence of constructive possession despite the odor of marijuana and his
statement of "suspect and questionable credibility." Id. at 86. The Third District affirmed
the dismissal of the charges. See State v. Rita, 451 So. 2d 894 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. denied,
459 So. 2d 1041 (Fla. 1984).

In the instant case, there was no telltale odor. Nor was there any obvious secret
compartment to alert Herre that something was amiss. There was no evidence that Herre
knew the drugs were in the vehicle. See also Torres v. State, 520 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 3d DCA
1988) (no inference of knowledge permitted, in part, where marijuana "secreted deep within
the hull" of ship and no detectable odor). Herre did not make any statements of "suspect
and questionable credibility." Under these circumstances, the Department of Revenue was
entitled to no inference that Herre knew the marijuana was secreted in the trunk or the

bags¥

*® Florida courts place a heavy burden on the State before inferences of guilty

knowledge are permitted. See, eg., Smith v. State, 279 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1973) (rejecting
inference that husband knew of illegal drugs secreted in wife’s jewelry box in bedroom);
Williams v. State, 529 So. 2d 1234, 1235 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (reversing appellant’s convic-
tion for constructive possession of drugs found in box under a couch in den and occupied
by another occupant); Cortez v. State, 488 So. 2d 163 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (reversing traf-
ficking conviction for insufficient evidence of husband’s constructive possession of marijuana
where marijuana found in box in plain view near wife’s bed and in closet shelf of their
children’s bedroom); Gaynus v. State, 380 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) (insufficient
evidence that joint occupant of residence possessed drugs found in one of the bedroom
closets); Brownlee v. State, 354 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978) (fact that defendant admitted
that a bedroom was "his room" deemed legally insufficient to show knowledge of drugs

(continued...)
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Indeed, courts have reversed convictions based upon significantly more evidence. For
example inA.S. v. State, 460 So. 2d 564 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), the defendant was charged with
constructive possession of cocaine found hidden inside a roll of toilet tissue in the glove
compartment of the defendant’s sister’s car which the defendant was driving. There is no
indication in the opinion that the sister was in the car at the time the defendant was
stopped. The defendant was concerned with the search of the car and upset that the drugs
were discovered. The Third District found this evidence insufficient to sustain the convic-
tion.

More recently, the court reversed a criminal conviction of one of the defendant’s in
Harris v. State, 501 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). In that case, an informant and four
others drove in a truck to a hotel to sell cocaine to undercover detectives. Upon reaching
the hotel, the informant and everyone in the truck except Harris went to the detectives’
room, Harris waited in the hotel lobby. After the cocaine sale was completed in the room,
everyone was arrested. Upon his arrest, Harris expressly indicated knowledge of the
cocaine, stating "that he was only along for the ride, he’d never touched the cocaine, he only
drove it down." 501 So. 2d at 735. The court still reversed, stating that the evidence was,
in fact, "woefully inadequate to establish [Harris’ guilt)." /d. The court had "no difficulty"
ruling that he did not have constructive possession of the cocaine. Id. at 736.

Other courts in Florida are equally strict. For example, in Pena v. State, 465 So. 2d

1386 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), undercover police officers arranged to purchase cocaine from two

30(...continued)
therein when room also occupied by another person); M.W.W. v. State, 389 So. 2d 1240,
1242 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (reversing defendant’s conviction for constructive possession of
drugs found in bedroom jointly shared with his brother).
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drug dealers, Evans and Marques. The State introduced evidence of Pena’s association with
Evans and Marques prior to the deal. Pena drove with Evans and Marques to a parking lot
where the deal was consummated in his presence. Indeed, when the undercover officers
approached the car and asked whether the cocaine was there, all three defendantsincluding
Pena nodded affirmatively. A subsequent search of the car revealed a box of cocaine in the
truck and a bag of cocaine on the rear floorboard near where Pena was sitting. At trial,
Pena disclaimed knowledge and stated he did not understand English. The court reversed
Pena’s conviction, holding that "[r]egardless of one’s suspicions, the above evidence was
insufficient as a matter of law to prove Pena knowingly sold or delivered the cocaine or was
knowingly in actual or constructive possession of the drug." 465 So. 2d at 1388.

In Doby v. State, 352 So. 2d 1236 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), the defendant was an inmate
at Union Correctional Institute. He was convicted of smuggling marijuana into the prison.
Following a furlough, his wheel chair was searched and marijuana found inside. Despite the
fact that it was his own wheel chair, the court reversed, because other people may have had
access to the wheel chair during his furlough.

In Corson v. State, 527 So. 2d 928 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), undercover agents staked out
a known "crack" selling area. Corson drove up to a parking lot along with two passengers.
One of the agents approached and asked what they wanted. One of the passengers said
cocaine, and the agent sold him some. As the agents closed in to make the arrests, the

passenger threw away the cocaine. The court reversed Corson’s conviction, holding that he
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never had constructive possession of the cocaine, despite the fact that Corson had control
of the vehicle*

The facts of the instant case do not come close to passing muster under the foregoing
precedent. There is simply no evidence that Herre owned the marijuana or the vehicle or
knew the marijuana was in the vehicle. The Department of Revenue made no effort to
locate Mr. Lee, the registered renter of the vehicle, or, alternatively, prove that the name
was fictitious. See Johnson v. State, 456 So. 2d at 924 n. 2 (noting State’s failure "to find out
who owned the apartment where the drugs were found").

While the Court may be obliged to view the stipulated record in a light most
favorable to the Department of Revenue, the Court must reject "leaping assumptions” not
reasonably drawn from the evidence. Uhnited States v. Covelli, 738 F.2d 847, 860 (7th Cir.),
cert. denied, 469 U.S. 847, 105 S.Ct, 211, 83 L.E.2d 141 (1984). Similarly, the rule that
permits factfinders to reach verdicts based upon circumstantial evidence is not a "license to
let their imaginations run rampant,” United States v. Mora, 598 F.2d 682, 684 (5th Cir. 1979),
or to "pil[e] inference upon inference," Direct Sales Co. v. United States, 319 U.S. 703, 711,
63 S.Ct. 1265, 87 L.Ed. 1674 (1943). Accord Torres v. State, 520 So. 2d at 80 ("[i]t would be

impermissible to allow the state to meet its burden through a succession of inferences that

31 Cases involving similar facts and similar results are legion. See, e.g., Mishmas v. State,
423 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (reversing conviction of driver of truck containing mari-
juana wrapped in plastic, despite the fact that odor obvious); Shad v. State, 394 So. 2d 1114
(Fla. 1st DCA 1981) (reversing conviction of passenger of truck containing bales of mari-
juana, despite the fact that defendant’s cloths were on top of bales which smelled); Manning
v. State, 355 So. 2d 166 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) (reversing conviction for constructive posses-
sion where the defendant was in the driver’s seat of jointly occupied vehicle in which drugs
were found).
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required a pyramiding of assumptions in order to arrive at the conclusion necessary for a
conviction").
In the stark absence of any evidentiary foundation, the Department of Revenue erred

in ruling that Herre was "engaged" in marijuana trafficking.
CONCLUSION
For all of the foregoing reasons, the Court must vacate the jeopardy assessment and
declare Section 212.0505 unconstitutional.
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.- -, . IAREA CMWS)  pemeny mreeif}

4. Dot businris and 1ales actually d Mo Da Yr

5 Erter the Federal Employer (dentification Mumber of the Business or the Social Security Number of the wner whan mo F, £ 1. No,

el I LI T T L e I T (T LT

&, :MAIUNG ADORESS: (i othee than 3 obove) Mame
Straat or P. Q. Bom

A Gy ' _ County Stote Zip Conde
7. N techicote Whether  CORPORATION O PARTHERSHIF O THDIVIDUAL PROPRIETORSHIP ]
Full rome of individuol terwr, Corporate Office or lntersst in
partracs or olficers oy Telephone | Home Address Partrarrship
L R Kind of Busi : Number of Locotiom registered with Floridy

(Grocery, hordware, jewelry, drug, department store, goroge, lumber ond buitding materiols, horel, apartment house, rooming house, motor
tourt, restourant, theotre, realty rentals, public ond private utilities sales, wic. 1f combiration mpecrfy uach os filling station end cofe, hovel
ord restouront, s)
. ©o you sil ot:  (check one only)  fRetad O, Wholesale 3, Both [ Remols O
10. If comuration, give stote in which incomoroted wrd individual detiorated W occept Mrvice
Flovida:
i Do you own tamtinens locaton, Yas [, Mo [, If arswer it “No™ give nome ond addrrss of bulding owner.

12 It applicant was previously regiitered ot o deoler in Florida, give trode mome and address of formr b
g
13 I this opolication resses trom o CHAMGE 1N OWMNERSHIP, or TYPE OF BUSIMESS ORGANIZATION, Enter:
Forenty Owrwry or Trade Mame T ebephuong
1ARLA THEE) Lhvdnd ek
ADDRESS [hnd
STATE zZIP CODE OLD CERTIFICATE MUMBER

T4 Chech reason for filling out this form: (check one onty) NEW BUSINESS [0, o CHAMNGE OF OWNERSHIP (), or CHANGE OF LEGAL

EMTITY O, or CHAMNGE OF LOCATION (ditferert county) (.
IMPORTANT — ALL INFORMATION REQUESTED MUST BE .
GIVEN AND THE APPLICATION SIGNED BY THE TAXPAYER. . .

DO MNOT 3EMD CASH BY MASL (RIEHATUNE )

Aftoch $5.00 check or money order povable to order . .
of Deportmant of Reverws. Section 212.18(3) of
Sales and Use Tox Low provedes thot o fee of 35.00 (State whether individual cwrwr, meember of firm, cxacutor, admanistrator,
shalft otcormpany thit opplicatun if you are o dealer tnustee, eic., o give hitke uf otlicer if corporstion.)

in the Stote of Florida, If the butivesy joggtion for
which registrotion certificate n regquested is coted
ouluds Florda, the 35.00 fee o not rduired. A bond
may be rrquened @i owtlined in Secrion 2121440 F 5,

TARES Gmi) (PR s

L 0O NOT DETACH BLUE COPY FN

54 Fla Jur 2d 107



§ 39:35

TAXATION

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETING FORM DR-1

_ APPLICATION MUST BE COMPLETED IN BLACK INK OR TYPEWRITER

BUSINESS NAME: Enter the business nome, trode nome,
doing business as (DBA) nome, Florida charter nome, cor-

porate name. portnership nome or other nome by which

the businest moy be kaown.

OWNER'S MAME, Enter the owner's mame if the business

it o single propnetorship, the name of the principal partner
or the nome of the portner completing the application it
the busiress i3 o partnerthip (oll other partners nomes

“should be entered in & below), and if the owner is a cor-

porgtion enter the nome of that corporation (corporate
officers nomes should be entered in & below). Indicate
whether indhividuol, corporation or partner.

BUSINESS LOCATION: |

Street: Enter the street nome and number of the octual
physical loconon ot the buuness. In the cose af o rural
address, lat the RFD box number ond descnbe where busss
ness i3 located, This oddress cannet be 3 post office box.

City: Enter the city in which the business is locoted, If
not within The city hmits, enter the city where the post
office that services the address hsted obove is located,

Stote: Enter the state in which the city and oddress are
locoted. L

Zip: Enter the 7.p code of the post otfice areo in which
the address and city are located.

County: Enter the Florida county in which the address
and city ore locoted. 1f not in Floride, leave blank.

WITHIN CITY LIMITS: Enter “yes” of within the incor-
porated timits of the city listed above. If in the county or
outside the ncorporated limits of the listed ciry, enter
o

BUSINESS TELERPHONE: Enter the ores code, exchonge
ond number of the phone physically located at the business
tacaton. it no business phone, but there 13 a pay phone
inyide the business, enter tha' number. Hf none of the
aforementioned give a phone number that s listed in the
name of the prncipal owner 6r 0 partner that con be used
@y the business phone number,

EFFECTIVE DATE. Enter the month day ond year the buw-
ness become hoble for the collecting of soles tasx or will
open ond become hoble for the collection of sales rax n
regard to the owner and business for which thig apphicotien
s being filed

FEDERAL EMPLOYER IDENTIFICATION HNUMBER OR
SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER. Enter the Federal Employer
Idennification number wn the FEI line Gf FE! is available}
16 the FEt number 11 not available, enter the Social Securnity
MNumber of the owner, prinGipal portner or partner com-
pleting the apphcation. I this 15 o corporation, enter the
FE{ number.

IMPORTANT: Be certoin that the owner or a Corporate officer

This

has sigred the applicaton form, thar olf per-
tinent information hos been supplied and that o
check made payable to the Deportment of
Reverue, in the amount of FIVE DOLLARS has
been attoched.

writing to:

108

4.

.

MAILING ADDRESS: Enter the naome of the person of
company {0 which you desire to hove your tax forms ard
correspandence mailed if other than tie business hame in
1 aobove, Enter the address (street or box, city, county,
state ord 2ip} of the principat entered in mome of malling
address above if it 1s different from the business location
on line 3, .

Chech whether the tyoe of business orgonization s o
CORPORATION, a PARTNERSHIP, or INMDIVIDUALLY
owned. Enter the full narmes of portrers or corporote

~ ofticers, their home phone numbers, home oddresses, ond

their corporate title or interest in the partrership.

Enter the KIND OF BUSINESS {grocery, commerciol rental,
service stotion, motel, erc.) thot most correctly describes
the type of service that your business furnithes the public.
If the type of business is not explicit, tell what is sold,
rented, ete, . L.

ENTER THE NUMBER OF BUSINESS LOCATIONS you
have registered ond are here registering in Florida,

If your business sells ot RETAIL, WHOLESALE or Both
or is in real estate rentals or other type of RENTALS,
check the bon that best describes this activity, ONE MUST
BE CHECKED..

IF CORPORATION: Enter the state in which the corpora.
tion has been incorporated and give the month, doy, ond
yeor of incorporation in tpace provided. Enter the narme
of the Flarido corpotate representative olong with  his
address end Flonda telephone rumber.

"Check the “yes” or “no” block wiich indicates your

ownership of the business location. 1f "no™ is checked,
enter the nome (or trode name) and oddrews of the person
ar corporation from whom you lease the business location,

IF YOU WERE PREVIQUSLY REGISTERED WITH THE
DEPARTMEMNT OF REVENUE. Enter the nome and loco-
fion address of the former business.

1f you purchased or otherwise ossumed owrership of the
busineis Or are changing the fype of business organization
ot sgt forth i 6 above, enter the former owners name
or business name and the oddress of the previous owner,
or enter the address of the present business if it is ot a
ditferent locanion, ff the business haod g Certificate mam-
ber, enter that number.

Check the block which best indicates );our reazon for
submatting this application,

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
CARLTON BUILDING
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301

public-use form, number DR-1, may be obtained by

Department of Revenue
Division of Administration

Room 104
Carlton Building

Tallahassee, Florida 32301
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TAXATION § 39:36

§ 39:36. Form of sales and use tax certificate of registration

State of Floride - - THIS CERTIFICATE 13
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE . HONTRANSFERABLE
. L CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION -

tssvad Pursuant 1o Chapter 212, Florido Statyras

REGIETAATION DATE - OPEMING DATE CERTIFICATE MUMBER

REFER TO THIS NUMBER
. . ' WHEN REPORTING TAX

MAILING AODRESS . ) .. .. THIBCEMTIFIES TRAT

15 HEREAY AUTHORIZED AND EMPOWERED TO COLLECT
SALES AND USE TAXES FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

THIS CERYIFICATE MUST BE POSTED IN A CONSPICUOQUS PLACE

*HERAIAEALES TAX FACTS TO REMEMBER==ss*"y | *
WHO 1S REQUIRED TO REFORT OH A REGULAR BASIE TO THE FLORIDA DEFARTMENT OF REVENMUL?
Fyary porian canducting Business in the State af Morida s mapontibie for Hilng a “Sabn & Uvs Tox Repart™ st tha and of sach malyned reperting pavied.

AN APE WYRAY thal YRUP Bri-Rrinted caies LK FApart dem nat arrive In tha mal, (i s our respenipllity te contsst the Dapartment of Mavanue snd redueit that 2 form
[T LI T2

Yaut talim tay return H dud the 1t of the maath feilowing the reparting paried and dslinguant if Hied atter the 20th. Exsmplar Month anding Marcn 379t 5 dus
w0 ARTH | and dedmguent aiter April 20T (Paitmark date acceptaiie),

* M your report iy tHed tmely, You ar anltiea ta ratain the L " yeur H your repart b il 2%, You s (e gormmission
and witl 3w asseued pansity and intermt. .

You Munt repister saih lpcatian from whish Yeu #v susinss and fHa o return for esch fecation Uniess the DEPartment Aal SRS7aved reperting (R sREtRer fnanner.

Vay are remuirad (0 fe a return sven though you fay Rave ne 1t tax fg Mport. Late MHing # a “Zaro LA™ UM will et in 2 35,00 Benaity ameumant.

* it Yo Tepomibity te ROUITY AWe Department of Reveans i you Rava Ay &b in your (marw Hon, mellihg sddrea ste,, Misrbwrated changs in
WATLTEY 8 Ba nEnbip, i), .

N the evant That Four businmi B sotd & CHe1ed The bw reduire you to pay s taxe, pansity ana/ar interest within 15 days,

OOES A SALES TAX MUMBER IXEMPT A DEALER FROM PAYVIMNG SALES TAXT

Yo iy extend Youl Labry (3R AUMDET 16 ¥ T BUpRilevt wh maning pufchiie of itams that wil b rinpidg Incorporatad inte an ijam of tangisie peransl proper.
orty fosyaie, of rented 3¢ tangibtr personal property. AN othar PUrchaees 219 (axabia,

Whan sCCaDting 4 tax Aumber from another dealer, in Heu of charsiAy sses WX, ¥0u Muil kews THie, ¥ “Ranaie Certiticate’ wivich ingiudm: BUHNEL RAME, (00
Hon addii. reaiom Tor putchasa, senature of auihor), S4A1, and tax number, MnaM o Hcat P Ard dvaliapie Bt 3 ROMinSl sevt trom your logal oftice -
WeRly stoce, af 1t you preier, you may Rave yeur printar prepai » torm tor your wie. {Suey qa from the Depsrithint.)
PLEASE CONTACT THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE LOGCAL AREA OFFICE IF YOU REQUIRE
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR ASSISTANCE REGARDING FLORIDA SALES AND USE TAX,

54 Fla Jur 2d 109




§ 39:37 TAXATION

§ 39:37. - Form of application for importation permit

[ LRT]
- R 0A/MZ
Stte of Florida
Department of Revenue DO NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE
BUREAU OF LICENSING & REGISTRATION Permit No.
Tallahassee, Flonda - Registration No,
APPLICATION FOR ’
IMPORTATION PERMIT . .
To engage in importing tangible personal property by
truck, automobile, or other means of transportation -
other than a comimon carrier pursuant to Chapter 212,
Florida Statutes.
1.
{individual, Corporate of Trade Mama under which Trucks will be Operated.)
2.
{Nama al Presant Owner or Ownan)
3.
{Location of Place of Buiinm, Streat, City, State, Zip Coae)

4, Give mailing address if other than the address given above

{P. . Bax or Strewt Mo, City or Town State '_ Zip Code)

5. Give Sales or Use Tax Certificate of Registration Number

6. Kind of Tangible Personal Property that will be impbncd

7. Year, make and scrial nuinber of each vehicle (owned or lcased by applicant)
3
o tsignature)
Fill in applicable line, and return to the .
- Indi A Owner, r fem
DEPA RTMENT O F REVEN UE (s"‘iﬂmlﬂu(lllm, ll'tﬂ|..°. ﬂc.-. of give (“?. O:O"‘w
APPLICATION ACCEPTANCE f corporation)

CARLTON BUILDING, ROOM 211
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 3230}

No tee required for importation permit (Cate)

See Reverse Side
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TAXATION § 39:37

IMPORTATION OF TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY UNDER * -
THE FLORIDA SALES AND USE TAX LAW

Any person or firm importing tangible personal property into the State
of Florida (OTHER THAN BY COMMON CARRIER OPERATING
OVER REGULATED ROUTES AND SCHEDULES) must be reg:stered
asa dealer and have an Importation Permit.
1. On sales for resale, dealer must obtain and have on file resale
certificates from dealers to whom tangible personal property
is delivered.

2. On sales to dlrect consumcrs 5% tax bascd upon delivered
sales price, must be collected and remltted to the Department.

As provided in Section 212.13, Florida Statutes, all dealers’ records
must be available for inspection by the Department at all reasonable
hours. Any vehicle not qualified as a common carrier as mentioned a-
bove, which imports tangible personal property into Florida without
first obtaining an Importation Permit, is in violation of the law. The
vehicle and cargo will be seized. as contraband and dealt with as pro-
v1ded in Sectlon 212.16, Florld.l Statutes. i

Upon issuance of the permit, the required number of identification cards
will be furnished for the vchicles entering Florida. All cards should be
completed with the requircd information and posted in or on the ve-
hicle, or made immediately available for inspection by an authorized
agent of the Department.

THE IDENTIFICATION CARDS ARE NOT TRANSFERABLE.

DEPARTMENT OF REV[:NUE
Carlton Building
. Tallahassce, Florida 32301

This pubhc use form, number DR-lO _may be obtamed by

writing to: _
) ~ Department of Revenue
Division of Administration
- Room 104 L
Carlton Building
Tallahassee, Florida 32301 L
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§ 39:38 TAXATION

§ 39:38. - Form of master importation permit

STATE OF FLORIDA o LT
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
BUREAU OF REGISTRATION AND RECORDS

Master Importation Permit
Issued Pursuant to the Sales and Use Tox Act
Chapter 212, Florida Statutes

THIS PERMIT IS NON-TRANSFERABLE AND

|
{ Mo. Doy  Yr IS GOOD UNTIL REVOKED PERMIT NUMBER
T 1 | i

CERTIFICATE HUMBER
PERMISSION IS HEREBY GRAMTED TO ' , T

r - | T

A

For the importotion of Tangible Personal Property into the State of Floride in trucks owned or
leased by the above individual or firm in the conduct of regular business.

-

§ 39:39. Form of importation permit identification card

STATE OF FLORIDA . L DR 3

3
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE R. 5/82
. BUREAU OF REGISTRATION & RECORDS
RM 211 CARLTON BLDG. .

IMPORTATION PERMIT

Identification Card For Vehicle And Cargo

' ’ lssued Pursuant to the Sales and Use Tax Act
DR-33 Chapter 212, Florida Statutes

DATE ISSUED
Mo. Duy Yr. ) PERMIT NUMBER
] ) CERTIFICATE NUMBER
PERMISSION 1S HEREBY GRANTED TO l ’ l
- 1
L A

For the importation of Tangible Personal Proparty into the State of
Fiorida in the vehicle as described on reverss side,

{OVER)
KIND OF VEHICLE

MAKE OF VEHICLE

SERIAL NO. OF VEHICLE

THE IMPORTATION PERMIT IDENTIFICATION CARD FOR VEHICLE
AND CARGO SHALL BE POSTED IN OR ON THE VEHICLE OR MADE
IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION. '

THIS CARD NOT TRANSFERABLE
112 54 Fla Jur 2d




